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Corporate Information
EXRER

Executive Directors
Mr. Wong Hoi Wong (Chief Executive Officer and Chairman)

Mr. Lin En Fu

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lin Chien Hsin

Ms. Hsieh Yi Chen
Ms. Wu Chiao Ru

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chu Meng Chi

Ms. Chan Mei Sze
Ms. Lin Yan Jenny

Head Office and Principal Place of Business
Unit 810, 8/F, Tower B, Hunghom Commercial Centre

37 Ma Tau Wai Road
To Kwa Wan
Kowloon

Hong Kong

Registered Office
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681
Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

Principal Share Registrar
Royal Bank of Canada Trust Company (Cayman) Limited

4th Floor, Royal Bank House

24 Shedden Road, George Town
Grand Cayman KY1-1110
Cayman Islands

Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar

Tricor Tengis Limited
Level 22, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong
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Principal Banker F2ERRT

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited B DSESRITARAR

Tsim Sha Tsui Branch KRBT

82-84 Nathan Road B

Tsim Sha Tsui e

Kowloon ESZNE]

Hong Kong B 82-84 5%

Auditor 1% 216
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25th Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central
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Hong Kong KEHL 2618
Compliance Officer oot ke
Mr. Lin En Fu MAEBEE
Audit Committee BERTES
Mr. Chu Meng Chi Ra#EE
Ms. Chan Mei Sze BREFF 2+
Ms. Lin Yan Jenny Mk 1=

Company Secretary and Financial Controller
Mr. Wong Lam (FCPA, MBA)

Authorised Representatives
Mr. Wong Hoi Wong

Mr. Wong Lam (FCPA, MBA)

Company Website

www.thizgroup.com
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB R T

Business Review
Software business

During the period under review, the Group was committed to developing Internet
financial software products and has become the principal source of the Group’s
revenue. Financial Technology (“FinTech”) will restructure the financial industry in the
future which will bring challenges and opportunities to the Group. FinTech provides
financial services by applying information technology. With reformation on regulatory
system after the Financial Tsunami and rapid enhancement of information technology,
FinTech has emerged rapidly in recent years. Apart from the existing financial
institutions, new participants emerged continuously in the financial related services
industry, including startup enterprises of FinTech and e-commerce and technology
companies. Plenty of FinTech companies provide financial services such as payments
and loans to their clients, while some endeavor to challenge the existing financial
institutions in a range of services, some even cooperate with financial institutions to
improve their existing ways of services and channels. Due to information technology
advancement, penetration of mobile phones or even smart phones increased and
therefore lowered the services cost, so that millions of people can first experience
brand new financial services through FinTech.

In respect of the scale, Mainland China can be regarded as the leader of global
financial technology. Nevertheless, being an international finance centre which is
comparable to New York and London, although with large financial institutions, the
development of FinTech in Hong Kong is far behind its counterparts. The Hong Kong
government, including the Monetary Authority is now committing to promote and
Hong Kong is in the hope of catching up. The Hong Kong Monetary Authority has
announced to promote Smart Banking, including Faster Payment System, promotion
of Virtual Banking, closer cross-border collaboration and enhanced research and
talent development to encourage the development of FinTech in Hong Kong in both
software and hardware.

Leasing business

The leasing business of office premises in Shanghai, the PRC is also one of the
principal source of the Group’s revenue. The turnover of this year remained stable
as compared with the corresponding period of last year. There was no new supply
in non-core business district of Shanghai in the first quarter of this year while some
projects will have their market entry postponed to next quarter. As the market focus
on absorbing existing capacity, the vacancy of non-core business district decreases
period-on-period. In addition, as the rental index was lower by 50% of the average
level of core business district, although the absorption of non-core business district
was relatively slower than that of core business district, some companies with limited
budget would still consider relocating their offices from class A office buildings or class
B office buildings earlier to non-core business district.

The non-core business district office market just emerged seven years ago. The
market share of which was only 3% of the capacity of whole city. However, the ratio
has leaped to 30% by the end of 2017 and is expecting a further increase to 35% in
2020.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Prospect

We have entered the era of FinTech 2.0. With startup enterprises leading the trend in
1.0, traditional financial institutions make use of information technology to promote
innovation services in 2.0. As the market gradually matured, FinTech has gradually
developed from a general concept and implemented in various professional fields
such as insurance technology, regulatory technology, etc.

With a series of technological innovations such as big data, cloud computing, artificial
intelligence, and blockchain, FinTech has greatly enhanced the operational efficiency
and competitiveness of the financial industry and has become an important tool for
financial institutions for business expansion and profit-making. In the future, the Group
will provide financial institutions and their clients with smart investment advising,
quantitative investment and other value-added services, the third-party Internet
wealth management platform clients with construction of fund sales platform end and
so on, the financial institutions clients with financial asset management system and
the investment advisors clients with platform services.

The Group is optimistic about its new business outlook and expects a continuous
growth of the financial software development business of the Group. The Internet
finance software development business will become the new driver of the source of
the Group’s revenue. As such, the Group will continue to allocate more resources and
strive to develop this new business.

Financial Review

The Group’s consolidated revenue from principal activities amounted to
HK$15,184,000 (2017: HK$1,891,000). During the year, profit before taxation for the
year was HK$20,198,000, compared to loss before taxation of HK$3,779,000 in the
corresponding period of last year.

Gross profit for the Group increased from HK$1,814,000 in 2017 to HK$11,655,000
in 2018, while the gross profit margin decreased to 77% due to increase in Fintech
development cost.

Total operating costs were approximately HK$7,756,000 (2017: HK$6,327,000).
Compared to last year, the operating costs have increased by 23%.

Profit attributable to owners of the Company and earnings per share for the year were
HK$17,394,000 (2017: loss of HK$4,559,000) and HK7.60 cents (2017: loss per
share HK2.02 cents) respectively.

Financial resources, liquidity and capital structure

As at 31 March 2018, total assets of the Group amounted to HK$93,821,000
(2017: HK$59,949,000). Current assets amounted to HK$40,642,000 (2017:
HK$17,887,000), of which HK$39,003,000 (2017: HK$17,492,000) were cash and
bank deposits. Current liabilities of HK$23,766,000 (2017: HK$2,734,000) mainly
comprised of receipts in advance, other payables, deposit received and accruals and
amounts due to the spouse of a director and a shareholder. Current ratio of the Group
was 1.7 (2017: 6.5) and gearing ratio of the Group was 0.05 (2017: 2.32) representing
the Group’s borrowings divided by total equity comprising equity attributable to owners
of the Company and reserves.

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had net current assets of approximately
HK$16,876,000 (2017: HK$15,153,000).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

ERMEARS ()

Foreign exchange risk

The Group’s main operations are in the PRC and Taiwan and its income and
expenses are transacted in Renminbi (‘RMB”) and New Taiwan Dollar (“NT$”)
respectively. Accordingly, it has no significant exposure to foreign exchange risk.

Charges on assets and contingent liabilities

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had no charge, pledge of assets or contingent
liabilities.

Capital commitments

At the end of reporting period, the Group had no material capital commitment.
Management and employees

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had 43 employees, including the Directors of the
Company. Salaries of employees are primarily based on prevailing market salary
levels. Other employees’ benefits include mandatory provident fund, medical cover
and other insurance.

Completion of loan capitalisation and issue of shares under general
mandate during the year ended 31 March 2018

All conditions of the subscription have been fulfilled and completion of the
subscription took place on 27 February 2018. A total of 35,180,000 subscription
shares have been successfully subscribed by the subscriber at the subscription
price of HK$1.0 per subscription share pursuant to the terms and conditions of the
subscription agreement dated 25 September 2017 (as supplemented on 6 February
2018).

Completion of subscription of shares under general mandate

As mentioned in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements, all conditions of the
subscription shares have been fulfilled and completion of the subscriptions took place
on 18 May 2018. A total of 20,000,000 subscription shares have been successfully
subscribed by the subscribers at the subscription price of HK$1.0 per subscription
share pursuant to the terms and conditions of the subscription agreements dated 28
March 2018 entered into between the Company and not less than six independent
third party subscribers.
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Biographical Details of Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Hoi Wong

Chief Executive Officer and Chairman

Mr. Wong Hoi Wong, aged 63, is an Executive Director and a founder of the Group.
Mr. Wong has over 30 years’ experience in sales and marketing, in particular in
electronics and computer industries. Mr. Wong was the Chairman of Association of
Electronic Components Industry of Taipei from 1990 to 1993. He oversees the sales
and marketing strategies of the Group. Mr. Wong graduated from the Department of
Industrial Management of Tamsui Oxford College in Taiwan with a diploma and a MBA
of the University of South Australia.

Mr. Lin En Fu

Mr. Lin En Fu, aged 62, is currently the Chief Operational Officer of the Company. He
holds a Master degree in Economics of the University of Kansas and had served for
First Commercial Bank of Taiwan for 21 years.

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lin Chien Hsin

Mr. Lin Chien Hsin, aged 64, graduated from the Economic Faculty of Taiwan
University and had been involved in research studies in Harvard and Standford
Business Schools. He was the Vice President of Holtek Semiconductor Manufacturing
Co., Ltd. in 1999. Besides, he was also the Chief Financial Officer of United
Microelectronics Corporation from 1983 to 2001, a semi-conductor manufacturer
whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange of Taiwan, and had been working
there for about 18 years.

Ms. Hsieh Yi Chen

Ms. Hsieh Yi Chen, aged 53, graduated from the department of Broadcasting and
TV of Shih Hsin University in Taiwan. She was the Executive Secretary of Franklin
Advisors Inc. and subsequently worked as the Vice President of Le Kao Co., Ltd. Ms.
Hsieh has extensive experience in the field of administration and management.

Ms. Wu Chiao Ru

Ms. Wu Chiao Ru, aged 50, graduated with a Master Degree in Management from
Yuan Ze University in Taiwan. She was the Assistant to President of Lung Hwa
Electronics Co., Ltd. from 2002 to 2003, and subsequently the Vice President of Chi
Fu Jong Hua Co., Ltd. Ms. Wu has extensive experience in the field of public relations
and consultancy.
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Biographical Details of Directors (Continued)

EEEM ()

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chu Meng Chi

Mr. Chu Meng Chi, aged 53, He obtained a Bachelor degree in Business
Administration from the Taiwan National Sun Yat-sen University. Mr. Chu has over 20
years’ experience in the field of corporate administration and financial investment.

Ms. Chan Mei Sze

Ms. Chan Mei Sze, aged 53, is an associate member of Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and fellow member of Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. She has over 23 years’ accounting and finance experience in various
industries in Hong Kong.

Ms. Lin Yan Jenny
Ms. Lin Yan Jenny, aged 47, has a master degree from the New York Institute of
Technology-Vancouver in Canada. She has over 20 years’ management experience

in various industries.

Ms. Lin is also an Executive Director of Code Agriculture (Holdings) Limited (Stock
Code: 8153).
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Corporate Governance Report

INTRODUCTION

The Company endeavors to comply with all the code provisions on Corporate
Governance Practices as set out in the GEM Listing Rules by establishing a formal and
transparent procedure to protect and maximise the interests of shareholders during
the year ended 31 March 2018.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions on terms no less exacting than the required standard of dealings as set
out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of
all Directors, the Directors have complied with such code of conduct and the required
standard of dealings and its code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the
Directors throughout the year ended 31 March 2018.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for managing the Company on behalf of shareholders.
The Board is of the view that it is the Directors’ responsibility to create value for
shareholders as a whole and safeguard the best interests of the Company and the
shareholders by discharging its duties in a dedicated, diligent and prudent manner on
the principle of good faith.

The Board comprises a total of eight Directors, with two Executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Wong Hoi Wong (CEO and Chairman) and Mr. Lin En Fu; three Non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Lin Chien Hsin, Ms. Hsieh Yi Chen and Ms. Wu Chiao Ru and
three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely, Ms. Lin Yan Jenny, Mr. Chu
Meng Chi and Ms. Chan Mei Sze.

The Company is of the view that all Independent Non-executive Directors meet
the independence guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and are
independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EXER®

(nﬁ)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The primary functions of the Board include:

)

(i)

(V)

(V)

deciding on the overall strategies, overseeing operational and financial
performance and formulating appropriate policies to manage risk exposure
associated with realising the strategies and goals of the Group;

being held accountable for the internal control system of the Company and
responsible for reviewing its effectiveness;

being ultimately responsible for preparing financial accounts and discussing the
performance, financial conditions and prospects of the Company in a balanced,
clear and comprehensible manner. These responsibilities are applicable to
quarterly, interim and annual reports of the Company, other price sensitive
announcements published according to the GEM Listing Rules and disclosure
of other financial information, reports submitted to regulatory bodies and
information disclosable under statutory requirements; and regularly reviewing
its own functions and the powers conferred upon Executive Directors to ensure
appropriate arrangements are in place;

whilst Executive Directors, who oversee the overall business of the Company,
are responsible for the daily operations of the Company, the Board is
responsible for affairs involving the overall policies, finance and shareholders of
the Company, namely financial statements, dividend policy, significant changes
to accounting policies, annual operating budgets, material contracts, major
financing arrangements, principal investment and risk management strategy;

the management is well informed of its powers and duties with clear guidelines
and instructions, in particular regarding situations under which reporting to the
Board is necessary and matters that require the approval of the Board before
any decisions or commitments can be made on behalf of the Company; and

the full Board meets at least four times a year, at approximately quarterly
intervals, to review the financial performance, results of each period, material
investments and other matters of the Group that require the resolution of the
Board. Simultaneous conference call may be used to improve attendance
when individual director cannot attend the meeting in person. Opinions of the
Independent Non-executive Directors are actively sought by the Company if they
are unable to attend the meeting in person.
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Corporate Governance Report [Continued]

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

(vii) The terms of reference of the Board also include:

a) to develop and review the policies and practices on corporate governance;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development
of directors and senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct applicable to
employees and directors; and

(e) to review the compliance with the Code and disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, list of Directors and the attendance records of
the Directors and members of the committees:

The Board
EEg

Total Number of Meetings BRLRE
Number of meetings MR/ AERLE
attended/eligible to attend BRRY
Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Wong Hoi Wong FHlREAE

Mr. Lin En Fu MRBEE
Non-executive Directors FEHTE

Ms. Hsieh Yi Chen HEELL

Ms. Wu Chiao Ru MI5n4 £

Mr. Lin Chien Hsin AR S A
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. Chu Meng Chi REBESE

Ms. Chan Mei Sze BREFR L

Ms. Lin Yan Jenny Mkt

J/t\ﬁkg (n-,ﬁ)

E%E (mE)

(vi) EFEHNREDEEDIE -

@)

BRI NEREERSREEABNIF RFEEE
i

R REREETEENEERETHNEERS
B

BIE - R RERERRESNETEN K

a8 RDRIE R R AR EER IR E )N MK

5 o

E-\FZA=t+HILFE EFLEREERZE

éi@ﬁkéitljf% R RO

Annual
Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Committee Committee Committee Meeting

EREEE  FMZEEE REZEE RREFAE

4 1 1 1
0 0 1 1
0 1 1
0 0 0
0 0 0
0 0 0
1 1 1
1 1 0
1 1 0
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

tRERHE (H)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group has adopted a set of Code on Corporate Governance (“Company Code”)
which sets out the corporate standards and practices used by the Group to direct
and manage its business affairs. It is prepared by referencing to the principles, code
provisions and recommended best practices set out in the Code on Corporate
Governance (“GEM Code”) contained in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules.
The Board will continue to monitor and revise the Company Code and assess the
effectiveness of our corporate governance practices in tandem with changes in the
environment and requirements under the GEM Code, to ensure the Company Code is
in line with the expectations and interests of shareholders and comply with the GEM
Code.

Except as mentioned below, the Company applied the principles and complied with
all the code provisions as set out in the GEM Code.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The GEM Code Provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer should be separated and should not be performed by the same
individual. The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer should be clearly established and set out in writing.

Mr. Wong Hoi Wong is both the Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Company
who is responsible for managing the Board and the Group business. The Board
considers that, with the present board structure and scope of business of the Group,
there is no imminent need to separate the roles into two individuals as Mr. Wong is
perfectly capable of distinguishing the priority of these roles in which he has been
acting. However, the Board will continue to review the effectiveness of the Group
corporate governance structure to assess whether the separation of the positions of
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer is necessary.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Under the GEM Code Provision A.4.1, all the Non-executive Directors should be
appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. At present, the Non-executive
Directors are not appointed for a specific term, but are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association.

Code Provision A.6.7 and E.1.2

Code Provision A.6.7 stipulates that Independent Non-executive Directors and other
Non-executive Directors should attend general meeting and have a fair understanding
of the shareholders’ opinion. Code Provision E.1.2 stipulates that the Chairman of the
Board should attend the Annual General Meeting and also invite the Chairmen of the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and any
other committee to the meeting.

Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-executive Directors could not attend

the Annual General Meeting held on 29 September 2017 due to extraordinary
business activities and unexpected events.
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Corporate Governance Report [Continued]

TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR DIRECTORS

The Company reports to all Directors regularly to allow the Directors to fully
understand the responsibility they share in the operation and the business of the
Group. The Group arranges professional development training for all Directors to
broaden and update their knowledge and skills, constantly informs all Directors about
the GEM Listing Rules and the latest development of other applicable regulations
to ensure the Directors comply with relevant regulation and raise their awareness
of good corporate governance practices. All Directors have provided their training
record.

The records of training the Directors received during the year ended 31 March 2018
are as follows:

Name of Directors EEHE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Wong Hoi Wong FelREE
Mr. Lin En Fu MAEBEE
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Ms. Hsieh Yi Chen WMEZEL T
Ms. Wu Chiao Ru RRTG 4R 27 4
Mr. Lin Chien Hsin MREHT
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. Chu Meng Chi R #EE
Ms. Chan Mei Sze BREF L
Ms. Lin Yan Jenny Mk E =

J/t\ﬁkg (n-,ﬁ)

BB %iE

AABEHRA2EESEHBE  BRSEAOBEBERES]
AEEZBEREGHFAAE BT - ZIS‘%@Tﬁz’JEjJF%Z_«Eﬁ%i%K
PERBRE) - AARKEFEE 2B LR UHER
MEREFEHGEM LRI REMEREE R Z SfrE
B RREEETERMRE  UREHREHRELEERR
R BE - 2RERCIRHUATEZIEIIMAZE -

RHEZZ-N\FZA=t—HILFER JFEEMEIZE
FlEatanT -

Attending Conferences, Forums and/or Seminars

HEES  wRERAHHE
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

tRERHE (H)

INSURANCE FOR DIRECTORS AND SENIOR STAFF

The Company has made appropriate arrangement regarding insurance, which covers
potential legal action faced by Directors and senior staff.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Wong Lam is the Company Secretary of the Company. His authorized duties
include ensuring the Board of Directors to operate effectively and fulfill its duties,
drafting agenda for the Board of Directors’ meetings and shareholders’ meetings and
ensuring the clear and effective communication among members of the Board and
also between members of the Board and the shareholders and management. During
the year, the company secretary has undergone professional training for over 15
hours to gain the most updated knowledge to facilitate his discharge of duties.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Membership

1. The Committee shall consist of 3 Independent Non-Executive Directors
appointed by the Board of Directors of the Company from time to time.

2. The Board shall nominate one of the members as the Chairman of the
Committee.

3. The Company Secretary or his nominee shall act as the Committee’s
Secretary.

Frequency and proceedings of meetings

4, The Committee shall meet at least once every year.

5. The Chairman of the Committee may convene additional meetings at his
discretion.

6. The quorum of a meeting shall be 2 members of the Committee.

7. Proceedings of meetings of the Committee shall be governed by the provisions

of the Articles of Association of the Company.

Duties, powers and functions

8. The Committee shall:

(@) implement the remuneration policy laid down by the Board;

(b) recommend to the Board the policy and structure for the remuneration
of Directors and senior management;

(c) review the remuneration of Directors and senior management;
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued)

Duties, powers and functions (continued)

(d)

review and approve the compensation arrangements in connection
with any loss or termination of their office or appointment, or dismissal
or removal for misconduct to Directors;

review the criteria for assessing employee performance, which should
reflect the Company’s business objectives and targets;

consider the annual performance bonus for Executive Directors,
senior management, and the general staff, having regard to their
achievements against the performance criteria and by reference to
market norms and make recommendation to the Board;

do any such things to enable the Committee to discharge its powers
and functions conferred on it by the Board; and

conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation that may from
time to time be prescribed by the Board or contained in the constitution
of the Company or imposed by legislation.

9. The Committee shall be provided with sufficient resources to enable it to

perform its functions.

Reporting Procedures

10.  The Committee shall report to the Board on a regular basis.

The Chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Mr. Chu Meng Chi, an Independent

Non-executive Director, and other members include Ms. Lin Yan Jenny and Ms. Chan

Mei Sze being Independent Non-executive Directors.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee of the Company convened one

meeting, and all matters concerning the determination of remuneration of the

Directors and senior management were discussed. In addition, the remuneration

policies and incentive mechanism applicable to the Directors and senior management

and the overall remuneration system of the Group were further refined and reasonable

recommendations were made to the Board in the meeting.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Membership

1. The Committee shall consist of 5 Directors appointed by the Company’s Board

of Directors from time to time, at least 3 of them shall be Independent Non-

executive Directors.

The Board shall designate one of the members as the Committee’s Chairman.

The Company Secretary or his nominee shall act as the Committee’s

Secretary.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

tRERHE (H)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

Frequency and proceedings of meetings

4, The Committee shall meet at least once annually.

5. In addition, the Committee’s Chairman may convene additional meetings at his
discretion.

6. The quorum of a meeting shall be 3 Committee members.

7. Proceedings of the Committee’s meetings shall be governed by the

Company’s Articles of Association.

Duties, powers and functions

8. The Committee shall:

(@) regularly review the structure, size and composition of the Board; and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
implement the Company’s corporate strategy;

(b) identify and nominate candidates to the Board;

() assess the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors;

(d) make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
succession planning for the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer as
well as the senior management;

(e) do any such things to enable the Committee to discharge its powers
and functions conferred on it by the Board; and

M conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation that may from
time to time be prescribed by the Board or contained in the Company’s
constitution or imposed by legislation.

9. The Committee shall be provided with sufficient resources to enable it to
perform its functions.

Reporting Procedures

10.  The Committee shall report to the Board on a regular basis.

The Nomination Committee of the Company currently comprises five Directors,
including two Executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Hoi Wong and Mr. Lin En Fu,
three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Lin Yan Jenny, Mr. Chu
Meng Chi and Ms. Chan Mei Sze, the Chairman of the Committee is Mr. Wong Hoi
Wong.

During the year, the committee convened one meeting, reviewed the structure,
size and composition of the Board; and made recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to implement the Company’s corporate strategy and
discharged its powers and functions conferred on it by the Board.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation of the financial

statements of the Group and ensure that the financial statements are in accordance

with statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards. The Directors also

ensure the timely publication of the financial statements of the Group.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company, BDO Limited, about their

reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in the

Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 30 to 35 of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

(@)

The Audit Committee of the Company currently comprises three Independent
Non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Lin Yan Jenny, Mr. Chu Meng Chi and
Ms. Chan Mei Sze. The Audit Committee possesses a wealth of experience and
expertise including accounting profession, and regulatory experience both in
Hong Kong, Taiwan and the PRC. The Chairman of the committee is Mr. Chu
Meng Chi.

During the year, the Board reviewed the terms of reference of the Audit
Committee and has made relevant amendments to accommodate the
requirements of the GEM Code, where appropriate.

The primary function of the Audit Committee is to review and supervise the
Group’s financial reporting system, internal control procedures and to maintain
good and independent communications with the management as well as auditor
of the Company.

In discharging its responsibility, the Audit Committee has performed the
following work:

()  reviewed the draft annual and quarterly financial statements during the
year; and

(i) reviewed, in conjunction with the auditor, the development of accounting
standards and assessed their potential impacts on the Group’s financial
statements.

The Audit Committee met four times during the year to review the results of the
Group.

Audit Committee is to be responsible for making recommendation to the Board
on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the external auditor, and to
approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor, and
any questions of resignation or dismissal of that auditor.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EXER®

(nﬁ)

AUDITOR

During the year ended 31 March 2018, audit service fees payable to auditors
amounted to HK$603,000 (2017: HK$575,000). Non-audit services fee was payable
to auditors during the year amounted to HK$100,000 (2017: Nil).

Internal control and risk management

The Board is responsible for a reliable and efficient internal control and risk
management system of the Group and reviews whether the operation is adequate
and effective through the Audit Committee.

Internal control and risk management system includes the management, the authority
and responsibilities of whom is as follows:

(1) help to achieve business target and protect the Group’s assets;

() ensure the proper maintenance and reliability of accounting record and
financial report;

3) ensure compliance with relevant regulations; and

4) Identify and reduce the Group’s major risk.

The purpose of establishing internal control and risk management system is to
reasonably prevent the Group from material mistake and loss and to closely monitor

the risks threatening the Group to achieve targets.

During this financial year, according to the assessment of the Group’s management,
the Audit Committee believes that:

A. the Group has conducted an identification, assessment and management
process for material risks threatening to its businesses; and

B. an effective and proper internal control and risk management system has been
maintained throughout this financial year.

Having regards to the simple nature and size of the Group’s business projects during
the financial year, the Group did not establish a special internal audit department. In
future, the Board will have an annual review to assess whether it is necessary to set
up such department to carry out internal audit.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no significant change in the constitutional documents during the year.

PARTICULARS OF SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

ERERHE (H)

HgsEX

ERABETE Y I mEARE) -

AR ERIEM

1.

The Articles of Association set out the rights of our shareholders.

All shares have the same voting rights and are entitled to the dividends
declared.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, Shareholder(s) holding not less than
one-tenth of the paid-up capital may request the Board to convene an
extraordinary general meeting. The objects of the meeting must be stated in
the related requisition deposited at the registered office.

For including a resolution relating to other matters in a general meeting,
shareholders are requested to follow the requirements and procedures as set
out in the Articles of Association.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, if a shareholder wish to propose a
person other than a retiring Director for election as a Director at a general
meeting, the shareholder should deposit a written notice of nomination which
shall be given to the Company Secretary within the 7-day period commencing
the day after the despatch of the notice of the meeting (or such other period as
may be determined and announced by the Directors from time to time).

Shareholders have the right to receive corporate communications in hard
copies.

Shareholders whose shares held in the Central Clearing and Settlement
System (CCASS) may notify us from time to time through Hong Kong
Securities Clearing Company Limited if they wish to receive our corporate
communications.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

tRERHE (H)

SHAREHOLDERS COMMUNICATION POLICY

1. This Policy aims to set out the provisions with the objective of ensuring
Shareholders are provided with information about the Company, in order to
enable Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner, and to
allow Shareholders to engage actively with the Company.

2. The Board shall maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders, and will
regularly review this Policy to ensure its effectiveness.

3. Information shall be communicated to Shareholders mainly through
the Company’s financial reports, annual general meetings and other
general meetings that may be convened, as well as by making available
all the disclosures submitted to the Stock Exchange and its corporate
communications and other corporate publications on the website.

4. Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings to the
Company’s Registrar.

5. Corporate communication will be provided to Shareholders in plain language
and in both English and Chinese versions to facilitate Shareholders’
understanding. Information released by the Company to the Stock Exchange
is also posted on the Company’s website immediately thereafter. Such
information includes financial statements, results announcements, circulars
and notices of general meetings and associated explanatory documents etc.

6. Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings or to appoint
proxies to attend and vote at meetings for and on their behalf if they are
unable to attend the meetings. Board members, appropriate management
executives and external auditor will attend annual general meetings to answer
Shareholders’ questions.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company’s Board adopted a Board Diversity Policy. Under the Policy, the
Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board with
a vision for the Company to achieve a sustainable and balanced development.
Appointments of directors are made on merits, including but not limited to, sex, age,
cultural and educational background, while having due regard for the benefits of
diversity of the Board. They represent diverse career experience in both international
and local enterprises. They bring with them diverse professional backgrounds,
spanning management, advisory and finance.

The Board composition reflects various cultural and educational backgrounds,
professional development, length of service, knowledge of the Company and a broad
range of individual attributes, interests and values. The Board considers the current
line-up has provided the Company with a good balance and diversity of skills and
experience for the requirements of its business. The Board will continue to review
its composition from time to time taking into consideration board diversity for the
requirements and benefits of the Company’s business.

Thiz Technology Group Limited  ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18

RRERBINECR

1. ABEMESEE ERERERADERRSARFER -
—IEEERAEMEERTTERES - 5T HBE
PR B AR X A0SR A o

2. EFREFHAEBRRRATHE - LS TEHRE RNBER AR
TRECK

3. ARAMBREEEANTIZRER  ARANFHR
& BRREFAEREMAIEAFRMNBERAS A
BEEXTHZMOEEER - URABEAREMBAR]
T E B

4. BEROHATHBEEETAREZ  BRAAFNRNES
BROERRE -

5. ARRERNARBAOZAS  REEBRE - UHE
PR T HBAAR - AR BEETH RPN ER &k
BIEEHAELRBEY - FHENBREMBRE XER
R BRASREMBENRAXESE -

6. BRESERFRAE  WREHRE  ATRRRERRED
FUNELER - EBEEKE  BENTHRERABR
NS HENS & HERCRAF ARG QBB R -

ESSAEZTTVHER

AABEFERNT —HESEXNEZTEE) - REZK
B ARFHAILREAREZ TN ESSHERAHE
MSERREHERS - EENZEHURARES RRE) - 815
BRERRMER - Fik - UERBEER  ARTESBERES
ERBE g - WREABERREABEEERFXD
ZHEEE  EER B UBSETREENEESSHEA
gFg-

EFONEHEERRTIANXEREES S  FEER - RS
T8 HARAMRHE  AREZOEARE - EHRMEE
B BB ABANKEASRARARE TUEARRFE
BHBERZ T CRENER - EFSSRAQFNETRE
hEnZREREREZTL  BETHRIEKEMES -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The Group recognises the importance of environmental protection and thereby

endeavors to look for environmental protection solution to achieve low-carbon and

simple office culture in order to create a better future.

This report is prepared with reference to the “Environmental, Social and Governance

Reporting Guide” as set out in Appendix of the GEM Listing Rules.

A.

A1

A2

Environmental

The Group strongly encourages the staff to implement a green office culture,
such as, if possible, sending and scanning documents by email in order to
reduce paper usage. Meanwhile, we also require staff to use recycled papers
first for printing internal documents and minimizes the using of one-off products.
In addition, in order to reduce the environmental impact of staff’s business trip,
we hold meetings by teleconference as far as possible, which can reduce the
cost of business trip, on the other hand, can minimize the adverse environmental
impact from travelling. Besides, we ask our clients to provide electronic monthly
statements as far as possible to reduce paper usage.

Since the conservation of global environment and natural resources has
fundamental impact to the human beings, it is the responsibility of all our
peoples to protect the environment. We reduce energy and natural resources
consumption in practice, reduce wastes, and choose renewable and recycled
products as far as possible. In addition, we encourage our clients and suppliers
to attach importance to environmental measures and practice.

Emissions

We strive to implement the following emissions reduction measures during our
daily operation:

1. Reduce time of lighting usage;

2. Strengthen the shading and insulation of office, so as to delay the turning
on of air-conditioner or turning off air conditioning early;

3. Replace high efficiency and energy saving light pipe and LED lighting
system;
Purchase energy saving office equipment; and

5. Provide staff with green office information.

Reduce carbon emissions and reduce waste by wastage reduction and strict
waste sorting and recycling.

Use of Resources

During the past year, carbon emissions from electricity usage were about 14,089
(kWh) (last year 15,255kWh).

We actively use the office equipment, so that the best efficiency can be attained
in our daily operation.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
REE - e REREE ()

A3

B1

B2

B3

B4

The Environment and Natural Resources
During the past year, our paper wastage was 101kg (last year 117kg).

In order to protect natural resources, we choose green purchases, such as
buying environmentally friendly toners and ink cartridges. At the same time,
we reduce the use of photocopying paper by double-sided printing and use
recycled papers; use the photocopier’s scanning function to replace document
fax and file storage, and implement online vacation application system, online
internal document approval, and agree with business partners to transfer
documents by emails, electronic billings and other forms of documents to
reduce paper usage, as far as possible.

Social
Employment

The Group equally treats every employee without considering their ethnicity,
race, nationality, sex, religion, age and marriage status when determining their
employment, remuneration package and promotion. To create a diversified
working environment, we hope that all staff can appreciate, take care and
respect each other regardless of their difference.

Health and Safety

The Group’s human resources policy is to attract and foster excellent talents
and provide a proper environment for them to unlock their potential. Therefore,
prefect staff management system, reasonable remuneration and benefit
package, supportive training and development solution, optimized working
environment and adequate health and medical and operation safety insurance
are important measures for our human resources strategy.

We will establish a working environment without worry to realize our common
vision and share the result of sustainable development with our staff.

Development and Training

Staff is the most important asset of the Group. Therefore, the Group pays
serious attention to the promotion and training of staff. In addition to providing
internal and external training and career development opportunities to our staff,
QOur senior management maintains communication with the staff at any time,
encourage and guide the staff to put their energy into work and inspirit them to
work hard together to fulfill our business targets. We foster professional team
through training in order to support our sustainable business development.

Labour Standards

The Group has established the “Employment and Compensation & Benefits
Policies” to meet the requirements of “Employment Ordinance” and the
“Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance”. The Group is forbidden to
recruit child labor and compulsory labor. The Group is fully responsible for the
employer’s liability, including the provision of benefits to employees.
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B5

B6

B7

B8

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Supply Chain Management

The Group relies on the products and services from the suppliers to support our
business operation and to provide quality services to customers. Accordingly,
supply chain management is an important part of the Group’s operation.
As such regard, we establish following assessment criteria for the suppliers,
including three aspects such as environmental protection, social responsibility
and ethics. Meanwhile, we set up a transparent and arm’s length procuring
procedure. Before placing orders for products and services, the Group conducts
a qualification assessment on the supplier to ensure to obtain the best products
from a suitable supplier. The assessment includes reviewing the supplier’s costs,
quality, environmental protection awareness, conduct, and performance of
social responsibility etc. Such requirements to suppliers are not only for protect
our business, but also represent our effort to fulfill social responsibility.

Product Responsibility

The Group requires all staff to be superb, professional and honest. In order to
ensure all staff formalized with and strictly following each relevant regulations
and code of conducts, the Group set up a code of conducts that our staff must
strictly comply with, which lists the matters all staff shall have to follow, covering
relevant matters in relation to regulations and governance, including prevention
of bribery, use of information and personal conduct.

Anti-corruption

The Group strictly abides by anti-corruption and incorruptible laws and
regulations. Internally, the Group has implemented a staff code and
management system, requiring all employees to maintain a high level of business
ethics. The Audit Committee of the Group is responsible for internal control
matters relating to anti-corruption.

Community Investment

The Group supports community activities and engages in community services
and promote community development with a view to create a harmonious
community and to fulfill our responsibility as a corporate citizen. As we know
it is favorable for the Group’s business development in a society with hope,
love and care. The Group actively builds up a corporate culture for loving and
caring society by encouraging staff to engage in voluntary service in community,
bringing social activities into our activities, which improves staff’s belongingness
and loyalty while giving back to the community.
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Directors’ Report
EEERE

The Directors submit their report together with the audited financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in (i) property leasing; (i) trading business; and
(iii) the information technology industry as a developer and provider of a range of
solutions pertaining to Linux-based systems and others. During the year, the Group
has expanded its scope of services to provide Fintech solutions and related post
contract support services. The activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 16 to
the consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENT REPORTING

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year is set out in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

The financial performance of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2018 and the
financial position of the Company and of the Group at that date are set out on pages
36 to 93.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the year are set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 40 and in note 25(d) to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2018, the Company had no distributable reserves.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment during the year are set out in note 14 to
the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for the pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles of
Association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five
financial years is set out on pages 94 to 95.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

The Company has not redeemed any of its shares during the year. Neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased or sold any of the Company’s
listed securities during the year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Wong Hoi Wong
Mr. Lin En Fu

Non-executive Directors:
Ms. Hsieh Yi Chen
Ms. Wu Chiao Ru
Mr. Lin Chien Hsin

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Chu Meng Chi
Ms. Chan Mei Sze
Ms. Lin Yan Jenny

In accordance with article 116 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr. Lin En
Fu, Mr. Lin Chien Hsin and Ms. Lin Yan Jenny shall retire from the Board by rotation
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable by
the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Apart from the transactions as disclosed in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements, no other contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
E;ﬁ' (nﬁ)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2018, the interests or short positions of the Directors and Chief
Executives in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO”), Chapter 571 under the Laws of Hong Kong), which were
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they have taken or deemed
to have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which
were required, pursuant to Rule 5.61 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

(a) Long positions in ordinary shares and underlying shares of the
Company

FERTSTRASRRATES 2 @5

RZE-N\F=ZRA=+—0  ZBFRIZTHAERAEARF
S EAERAREOEE (E& R EBENE 671 BE 5 A E A
(M7 RG] ) EXVER) 2 Bfn - iR sEFHE E
AIRERE 7 MR EDIE XV BB 7 & 8 0 #R 2 A& AN A ) Bk
Rz msk e A (BRERIEE S RS DA BRSO S
B ARE ZBARER) - RBEEFRIE HHIE352
BRBRNZIE il 2 B M2 R ER - SRIBEGEM L
MRRIE5.61 (FAME R AR Rz EmE AT

(a) mrTSBERKIBERN KR

Type of interests and Percentage
number of shares held of the
EREREriERAEAR Company’s
Personal Other issued share
Name of director interest interest Total capital
=R SN
BEBITRA
ESnR BARER HitiEz st ADk
(Note)
(Hi73)
Mr. Lin Chien Hsin 5,295,000 - 5,295,000 2.03%
MEHT R E
Mr. Wong Hoi Wong - 1,508,600 1,508,600 0.58%
TOEEE

Note: These shares are registered in the name of Eaglemax International Investment Limited
(“ElIL"), a company owned by Intelligent Management Limited (“IML”") as the trustee of
Intelligent Management Discretionary Trust, a family discretionary trust, the objects of
which include Mr. Wong Hoi Wong, his family and any charity in the world. As at 31
March 2018, Mr. Wong Hoi Wong held the entire issued share capital of IML. By virtue
of SFO, Mr. Wong Hoi Wong has an interest of such shares.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

(b) Short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company

Save as disclosed herein, as at 31 March 2018, none of the Directors had short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of equity derivatives of the Company.

Save as disclosed herein, as at 31 March 2018, none of the Directors had any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO), which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which
they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
required pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein, or which were required, pursuant to Rule 5.61 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS

As at 31 March 2018, the following persons (not being the Directors and Chief
Executives of the Company) had interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO as follows:
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Approximate

Number of percentage of

Name of shareholder shares held issued share capital

B»E HEBITREZ

REREHE ROHE BHEDL

Ms. Wang Ying Fang 40,000,000 156.34%
Wang Ying Fang Z +

Extra Bright Trading Limited (Note 1 /i 1) 46,279,750 17.75%

Note :

1. Extra Bright Trading Limited is owned as to 49% and 51% by Yarn Shouu Bair and Advanced
Enterprises Limited respectively. Advanced Enterprises Limited is wholly owned by Chang
Wei Min. Chang Wei Min and Yarn Shouu Bair are deemed to be interested in all the Shares
held by Extra Bright Trading Limited under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2018, there was no person (not being
the Directors and Chief Executives of the Company) who had any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

Hiat

1. Extra Bright Trading Limited | Yarn Shouu Bair & Advanced
Enterprises Limited % Bl # 4 49% K& 51% ° Advanced Enterprises
Limited B3 Chang Wei Min2 & # A © RIEE 5 LEIE () - Chang
Wei Min & Yarn Shouu Bair #§ 1% A7 Extra Bright Trading Limited 3
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
E;ﬁ' (nﬁ)

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the percentage of purchase attributable to the five largest suppliers in
aggregate is less than 30%.

The sales to the five largest customers of the Group accounted for approximately 90%
of the total sales for the year and the sales to the largest customer included therein
accounted for approximately 39%.

Save as disclosed below, none of the Directors, their respective associates and
shareholders of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors own more
than 5% of the issued share capital of the Company) had any interest in any of the five
largest customers and suppliers of the Group for the year.

After completion of loan capitalisation and issue of shares under general mandate on
27 February 2018, a total of 35,180,000 subscription shares have been successfully
subscribed by Extra Bright Trading Limited at the subscription price of HK$1.0
per subscription share pursuant to the terms and conditions of the subscription
agreement, Extra Bright Trading Limited is owned as to 49% and 51% by Yam Shouu
Bair and Advanced Enterprises Limited respectively. Advanced Enterprises Limited is
wholly owned by Chang Wei Min. Chang Wei Min and Yam Shouu Bair are deemed
to be interested in all the shares held by Extra Bright Trading Limited under the SFO,
and Chang Wei Min also has interest in one of the five largest customers.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of connected transactions under the GEM Listing Rules during the year are set
out in notes 28(a) and (b) to the consolidated financial statements.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors, the substantial shareholders or the management shareholders
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) had any interests in any business which
competed with or might compete with the business of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year ended 31
March 2018.

CORPORATE STRATEGY

The Group’s strategy is to generate stable income through property investment
and software business. Our corporate values rest in growing the presence of our
existing businesses and identifying new business and investment opportunities not
limited to our current businesses in order to deliver value to both our customers and
our shareholders. All such opportunities will continue to be diligently and carefully
evaluated by the Board with the view of delivering value to our shareholders.
We believe implementing disciplined business strategies and prudent financial
management serves this purpose by preserving the longevity and sustainability of our
businesses.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an Audit Committee with written terms of reference in
compliance with the GEM Listing Rules. The duties of the Audit Committee are to
review and to provide supervision over the financial reporting process and internal
control system of the Group. The Audit Committee comprises three Independent
Non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Lin Yan Jenny, Mr. Chu Meng Chi and Ms. Chan
Mei Sze.

During the year, the Audit Committee has met four times to review the results of the
Group.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been audited by BDO
Limited.

BDO Limited retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A
resolution will be submitted to the Annual General Meeting of the Company to re-
appoint Messrs. BDO Limited as auditor of the Company.

By Order of the Board

Wong Hoi Wong

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2018

Directors’ Report (Continued)
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB R E

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF THIZ TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED
(ENEFRIEEEAER A F)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Thiz Technology Group
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on
pages 36 to 93, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2018, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2018, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the “Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

Recognition of revenue from provision of Fintech solutions and related
post contract support services

Refer to Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policy on
recognition of revenue from provision of Fintech solutions and related post contract
support services as shown in Note 4 (p) (i) and (jii).

The Group’s major revenue for the year ended 31 March 2018 includes income
generated from provision of Fintech solutions and related post contract support
services of HK$12,643,000. The contracts typically are fixed price contracts
comprising provision of Fintech solutions and three years’ post contract support
services.
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Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)

Revenue from provision of Fintech solutions and related post contract support
services accounted for about 83 % of the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31
March 2018 and together with the reasons below, was identified as a key audit
matter.

e the manual processes and controls for recording contracts; and

e the significant judgements and estimates made by management in determining:

()  whether contracts contain elements which should be separated for
revenue recognition purposes;

(i) whether the contracted prices of individual elements as stated in contracts
represent their respective fair values of consideration receivable;

(i) whether the revenue should be recognised at a point in time or over time;
and

(iv) the stage of completion of transactions at the end of the reporting period.

A change in an estimate or judgement made in the revenue recognition such as
determination of the stage of completion of a transaction at the end of the reporting
period could result in a significant change in the amount of revenue recognised in one
or more reporting periods.

Our Response

Our procedures in relation to recognition of revenue from provision of Fintech
solutions and related post contract support services included:

o Obtaining our understanding of the systems, processes and controls for
recording and recognition of revenue;

° Obtaining all contracts to understand the terms of each contract and to
determine whether the revenue had been recognised in accordance with the
Group’s revenue recognition policy;

° For each contract, evaluating the judgements and estimates made by
management in applying the Group’s revenue recognition policy, including
identification of separable elements of contracts, determination of their fair
values of consideration receivable and determination of the stage of completion
of transactions as at 31 March 2018;

e Inspecting evidence of customers’ acceptance of achievement of milestones
which generally reflect the work progress of the transactions; and

. Re-performing the calculation of revenue from provision of post contract support
services recognised on a straight-line basis where the contractual services are
performed by an indeterminate number of acts.
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Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)

BIAZH MR E (B

Valuation of investment properties

Refer to Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting
policy on investment properties as shown in Note 4(d) to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group’s investment properties were carried at fair value of HK$53,125,000 as at
31 March 2018 which was based on valuations performed by an independent firm of
professional valuers.

Investment properties were significant to the consolidated financial statements
representing about 57% of the total assets of the Group as at 31 March 2018, and
together with the reasons below, was identified as a key audit matter.

The valuation of investment properties requires significant judgement and estimation
in determining the appropriate valuation methodology to be used and in estimating
the underlying assumptions to be applied. There is a risk that the carrying amount
of investment properties may be materially misstated if the valuation methodology
adopted and the key assumptions applied by the valuers are inappropriate. A
small change in the key assumptions applied such as discount on asking price and
adjustments on size or location between each of the subject properties and the
comparables could have a significant impact on the valuation.

Our Response
Our procedures in relation to valuation of investment properties included:
o Evaluating the objectivity, independence and expertise of the external valuers;

. Assessing the methodology used and the appropriateness of the key
assumptions applied based on our knowledge of the property industry;

. Checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy and relevance of the inputs data
used; and

. Assessing the adequacy of the disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of the valuation of investment properties including the
relationship between the key unobservable input and fair value.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the Company’s annual report but does not

include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
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Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process. The audit committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”) assists the
directors in discharging their responsibilities in this regard.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concemn. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on
the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.
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Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Wong Chi Wai
Practising Certificate Number: P04945

Hong Kong, 28 June 2018
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
GERHEREMEEEESR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 HZ=Z— \F=A=+—HILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
iz FHT FA&T
Revenue ' ON 5 15,184 1,891
Cost of sales and services SHE KRS A (3,529) (77)
Gross profit EF 11,655 1,814
Other revenue and gains Hiblg A R Uzs 5 17,267 1,695
General and administrative expenses —RRITEER (7,756) (6,327)
Finance costs BUE KA 7 (968) (961)
Profit/(loss) before taxation BB ATRF(E51E) 8 20,198 (3,779
Taxation BiIA 11(a) (2,813) (790)
Profit/(loss) for the year NEEEFR(FA) 17,385 (4,569)
Other comprehensive income Hin2E K=
ltem that may be subsequently re-classified BB EHoEsE
to profit or loss: BmMIER -
Currency translation differences B¥smE = 4,405 (2,176)
Total comprehensive income for the year AEERHEKNESHEEE 21,790 (6,745)
Profit/(loss) attributable to: LT EAEEF (F58) -
— Owners of the Company A VNCIEZZS PN 17,394 (4,559)
— Non-controlling interest — IR 9) (10)
17,385 (4,569)
Total comprehensive income for DTEAARFEFERAERSHEEE -
the year attributable to:
— Owners of the Company EAVNEIE 2N 21,799 (6,735)
- Non-controlling interest — JFmpRhERS ) (10)
21,790 (6,745)
Earnings/(loss) per share: BRERN(HE) :
- Basic and diluted (in cents) — EAR R HE () 13 7.60 (2.02)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
FEEBHRRE

At 31 March 2018 RZZ—N\F=A=+—H

2018 2017
—E-N\F S
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
P EE FET FAT
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BE R 14 54 17
Investment properties "B 15 53,125 42,045
53,179 42,062
Current assets REBEE
Trade and other receivables, FEUUR EoAth FE U R IE
deposits and prepayments e RFEMNFIE 17 1,639 395
Bank balances and cash RITHEEFEMIRE 18 39,003 17,492
40,642 17,887
Current liabilities RBEE
Receipts in advance TEWEIE 178 414
Other payables, deposits received and HibfEFE  BliEe &
accruals fEEtFRIE 19 22,186 1,829
Amount due to the spouse of a director FERERRBRIA 20 125 491
Amount due to a shareholder FER IR RIE 21 486 -
Current tax liabilities EHTIEARE 791 -
23,766 2,734
Net current assets REBEEFHE 16,876 15,153
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBERS 70,055 57,215
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Amount due to a director EfEERE 22 2,609 3,723
Amount due to a shareholder FE IR R KA 21 - 34,789
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEAE 11(b) 4,572 2,245
7,181 40,757
Net assets EERE 62,874 16,458
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)
e MBARIRE (4E)

At 31 March 2018 RZ=ZT—N\F=A=+—H

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
P FExT FAT
EQUITY s

Share capital ;RS 23 260,750 225,570
Reserves f#E (197,542) (208,787)

Equity attributable to owners of EATEEA
the Company PEfhRER 63,208 16,783
Non-controlling interest R ER (334) (325)
Total equity EREEE 62,874 16,458

These consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by WEGAVBERENR - \ENA+TN\BEESTEHER

the Board of Directors on 28 June 2018 and are signed on its behalf by: BT WA TIIESREREE
Director Director X E
WONG HOI WONG LIN EN FU FElE MEH
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
BEREREXR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 HZEZ=ZT— )\F=A=+—HILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
P EE FHT FHT
Cash flows from operating activities REEKCHERE
Profit/(loss) before taxation MFERTEF (EE) 20,198 (8,779)
Adjustments for: FE
Fair value gain on investment properties "EYFE AT ERE 15 (6,471) (1,625)
Gain on extinguishment of an amount FEEH A AR B R IE A U e
due to a shareholder 21 (10,554) -
Interest income FEMA (43) (34)
Interest expenses FERZ 7 968 961
Depreciation e 13 9
Operating cash flows before working EEESHH A LCERESRE
capital changes 4,111 (4,468)
Increase in trade and other receivables, U % EL fth R W SR IE
deposits and prepayments @ RIERFIEE M (1,244) (13)
Decrease in receipts in advance TR IR R (236) (130)
Increase in other payables, deposits HAibEFIE - EWRS
received and accruals K FERT FRIFIL N 357 4
Effect on foreign exchange rate changes INISTE R B 8) 2 & 145 61
Cash generated from/(used in) operations KEEE (R RE 3,133 (4,546)
Interest received =R &SN 43 34
Interest paid BEAFE 30 (877) (346)
Income taxes paid BEFEH (43) -
Net cash generated from/(used in) mEEREE (A RESFHE
operating activities 2,756 (4,858)
Cash flows from investing activities REZBEHERE
Payments to acquire property, REME
plant and equipment VS E = PANE S (51) (13)
Net cash used in investing activities RETHTAREFE (51) (19)
BN RIS M AR AR] - 2017/18 Fi
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued]

n%./;: Ull.%%E (nﬁ)

For the yearended 31 March 2018 #HZEZZT—N\F=A=+—HLFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F T —+F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5E FExT FET
Cash flows from financing activities MEIBHZHERE
Repayment of principal portion of amount due BREENESRBEEIERAE
to the spouse of a director 30 (234) (290)
Repayment of principal portion of BEENESEEHE
amount due to a director 30 (960) (960)
Proceeds from share subscriptions TEWAR 1D RAEFTIS R
received in advance 19 20,000 -
Repayment of principal portion of EBEEMNREEER
amount due to a shareholder - (6,000)
Increase in amount due to a shareholder FET AR R FRIALE N - 15,000
Net cash generated from financing activites BEFHELE RS FE 18,806 7,750
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents ReRBESESEEEEMFR 21,511 2,879
Cash and cash equivalents at RENzRERBALEEER
beginning of year 17,492 14,613
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year REEzRERASESEEE 18 39,003 17,492

Details of the major non-cash transactions during the year are set out in Note 30 to

the financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ARG REM

31 March 2018 —Z—\#f=HA=+—H

GENERAL

Thiz Technology Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated as an
exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands under the
Companies Law (Cap.22 Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands on 6 December 2000. The address of its registered office
and principal place of business are Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and Unit 810, 8/F, Tower B,
Hunghom Commercial Centre, 37 Ma Tau Wai Road, To Kwa Wan, Kowloon,
Hong Kong, respectively.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM”).

The Group is principally engaged in (i) property leasing; (i) trading business; and
(iii) the information technology industry as a developer and provider of a range
of solutions pertaining to Linux-based systems and others. During the year,
the Group has expanded its scope of services to provide Fintech solutions and
related post contract support services. The principal activities of the subsidiaries
are set out in Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(a) Adoption of new/revised to HKFRSs - effective 1 April 2017

The Group has adopted the following new/revised HKFRSs issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants that are effective for
the current accounting period.

Amendments to HKFRS 7
Amendments to HKAS 12

Disclosure Initiative

Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for
Unrealised losses

Annual Improvements Amendments to HKFRS 12, Disclosure of
to HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle Interests in Other Entities

The adoption of these new/revised HKFRSs has no material impact on
the consolidated financial statements except that additional disclosure
has been made in Note 30 to present the changes in liabilities arising from
financing activities during the year ended 31 March 2018, including both
cash and non-cash changes and other changes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
IREMBREM S (E)

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but not yet

effective

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant to the consolidated

financial statements, have been issued, but are not yet effective and have

not been early adopted by the Group:

HKFRS 9
HKFRS 15

Amendments to HKFRS 15

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22

HKAS 40 (Amendment)
HKFRS 16
HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

HKFRSs (Amendments)

Effective date

Financial Instruments
Revenue from Contracts
with Customers
Revenue from Contracts
with Customers
(Clarifications to HKFRS 15)
Foreign Currency Transactions
and Advance Consideration
Investment property
Leases
Uncertainty over Income
Tax Treatments
Annual Improvements to

31 March 2018
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HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycles

Effective date:

() Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
(i) Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification and
measurement of financial assets. Debt instruments that are held within
a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows (the business model test) and that have contractual
terms that give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding (the contractual cash
flow characteristics test) are generally measured at amortised cost. Debt
instruments that meet the contractual cash flow characteristics test are
measured at FVTOCI if the objective of the entity’s business model is both
to hold and collect the contractual cash flows and to sell the financial
assets. Entities may make an irrevocable election at initial recognition to
measure equity instruments that are not held for trading at FVTOCI. All
other debt and equity instruments are measured at FVTPL.
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but not yet

effective (Continued)

HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (Continued)

HKFRS 9 includes a new expected loss impairment model for all financial
assets not measured at FVTPL replacing the incurred loss model in HKAS
39 and new general hedge accounting requirements to allow entities to
better reflect their risk management activities in financial statements.

HKFRS 9 carries forward the recognition, classification and measurement
requirements for financial liabilities from HKAS 39, except for financial
liabilities designated at FVTPL, where the amount of change in fair value
attributable to change in credit risk of the liability is recognised in other
comprehensive income unless that would create or enlarge an accounting
mismatch. In addition, HKFRS 9 retains the requirements in HKAS 39 for
derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities.

HKFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The new standard establishes a single revenue recognition framework. The
core principle of the framework is that an entity should recognise revenue
to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods and services. HKFRS 15 supersedes
existing revenue recognition guidance including HKAS 18 “Revenue”,
HKAS 11 “Construction Contracts” and related interpretations.

HKFRS 15 requires the application of a 5 steps approach to revenue
recognition:

Step 1:  Identify the contract(s) with a customer

Step 2:  Identify the performance obligations in the contract

Step 3:  Determine the transaction price

Step 4:  Allocate the transaction price to each performance obligation

Step 5: Recognise revenue when each performance obligation is
satisfied

HKFRS 15 includes specific guidance on particular revenue related topics
that may change the current approach taken under HKFRSs. The standard
also significantly enhances the qualitative and quantitative disclosures
related to revenue.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but not yet

effective (Continued)

Amendments HKFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Clarifications to HKFRS 15)

The amendments to HKFRS 15 included clarifications on identification of
performance obligations; application of principal versus agent; licenses of
intellectual property; and transition requirements.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 - Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance
Consideration

The Interpretation provides guidance on determining the date of the
transaction for determining an exchange rate to use for transactions that
involve advance consideration paid or received in a foreign currency and
the recognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability. The
Interpretations specifies that the date of the transaction for the purpose of
determining the exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income (or part thereof) is the date on which the entity
initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the payment or receipt of advance consideration.

Amendments to HKAS 40, Investment Property — Transfers of
Investment Property

The amendments clarify that to transfer to or from investment properties
there must be a change in use and provides guidance on making this
determination. The clarification states that a change of use will occur when
a property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of investment property
and there is supporting evidence that a change has occurred.

The amendments also re-characterise the list of evidence in the standard
as a non-exhaustive list, thereby allowing for other forms of evidence to
support a transfer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fREMIBREM S (E)

31 March 2018 —Z—\#f=HA=+—H

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 2. RSB URIRESER (| BBUKRRE%E
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued) 8 ) (#8)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but not yet (b) PABERER ] RIZ]EBUIFRS

effective (Continued)

HKFRS 16 - Leases

As disclosed in Note 4(h), currently the Group classifies leases into
operating leases, and account for the lease arrangements, according to the
nature of the lease. The Group enters into leases as the lessee.

HKFRS 16 is not expected to impact significantly on the way that lessors
account for their rights and obligations under a lease. However, once
HKFRS 16 is adopted, lessees will no longer distinguish between finance
leases and operating leases. Instead, subject to practical expedients,
lessees will account for all leases in a similar way to current finance lease
accounting, i.e. at the commencement date of the lease the lessee will
recognise and measure a lease liability at the present value of the minimum
future lease payments and will recognise a corresponding “right-of-use”
asset. After initial recognition of this asset and liability, the lessee will
recognise interest expense accrued on the outstanding balance of the
lease liability, and the depreciation of the right-of-use asset, instead of the
current policy of recognising rental expenses incurred under operating
leases on a systematic basis over the lease term. As a practical expedient,
the lessee can elect not to apply this accounting model to short-term
leases (i.e. where the lease term is 12 months or less) and to leases of
low-value assets, in which case the rental expenses would continue to be
recognised on a systematic basis over the lease term.

HKFRS 16 will primarily affect the Group’s accounting as a lessee of
leases for property, plant and equipment which are currently classified as
operating leases. The application of the new accounting model is expected
to lead to an increase in both assets and liabilities and impact on the timing
of the expense recognition in the statement of profit or loss over the period
of the lease. As disclosed in Note 27, as at 31 March 2018 the Group’s
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases
amount to HK$127,000, which is payable within 1 year after the reporting
date. Therefore the Group may not need to recognise these amounts as
lease liabilities, with corresponding right-of-use assets, once HKFRS 16 is
adopted as a practical expedient. The Group will need to perform a more
detailed analysis to determine the amounts of new assets and liabilities
arising from operating lease commitments on adoption of HKFRS 16, after
taking into account the applicability of the practical expedient and adjusting
for any leases entered into or terminated between now and the adoption of
HKFRS 16 and the effects of discounting.

The Group does not expect to adopt HKFRS 16 before its effective date of
1 January 2019.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e HRERMEE (8)

31 March2018 —Z—\F=A=+—H

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 2. RSB IRESER (BB IRE%E
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued) 8 ) (48)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but not yet (b) BArfhBaREBR ] KIZ]EBMIEHRE

effective (Continued)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 - Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

The Interpretation supports the requirements of HKAS 12, “Income Taxes”,
by providing guidance over how to reflect the effects of uncertainty in
accounting for income taxes.

Under the Interpretation, the entity shall determine whether to consider
each uncertain tax treatment separately or together based on which
approach better predicts the resolution of the uncertainty. The entity shall
also assume the tax authority will examine amounts that it has a right to
examine and have full knowledge of all related information when making
those examinations. If the entity determines it is probable that the tax
authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, then the entity should
measure current and deferred tax in line with its tax filings. If the entity
determines it is not probable, then the uncertainty in the determination of
tax is reflected using either the “most likely amount” or the “expected value”
approach, whichever better predicts the resolution of the uncertainty.

HKFRSs (Amendments)

The amendments relate to a number of HKFRSs. The amendments to
HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” clarify that when an entity obtains
control of a business that is a joint operation, it remeasures previously
held interests in that business. The amendments to HKFRS 11 “Joint
Arrangements” clarify that when an entity obtains joint control of a business
that is a joint operation, the entity does not remeasure previously held
interests in that business. The amendments to HKAS 12 “Income Taxes”
clarify the uncertainty of income tax consequences of dividends when the
entity recognises a liability to pay a dividend. Income tax consequences of
dividends shall be recognised in profit or loss, other comprehensive income
or equity to where the related past transactions or events that generated
distributable profits originally recognised. The amendments to HKAS 23
“Borrowing Costs” clarify that if any specific borrowing remains outstanding
after the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale, that borrowing
becomes part of the funds that an entity borrows when calculating the
capitalisation rate on general borrowings.

Based on the directors’ assessment so far, they have identified there may
be material impact of HKFRS 16 on the consolidated financial statements
as discussed above. In addition, other than more qualitative and
quantitative disclosures related to revenue will be made in the consolidated
financial statements upon adoption of HKFRS 15, the directors do not
anticipate it will have a material impact on the timing and amounts of
revenue recognised in the respective reporting periods. As the directors
have not yet completed their assessment, further impacts of HKFRS 16
and HKFRS 15 and other new/revised HKFRSs may be identified when
they have completed the assessment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e RERMEE (8)

31 March 2018 =%

—N\F=A=+—H

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)

(b)

(c)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”)
and Interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “HKFRS”)
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
GEM (“GEM Listing Rules”).

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, as modified for investment properties, which are
carried at fair value, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Functional and presentation currency

The individual financial statements of each group entity are presented
in the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (“functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) which is the functional currency of
the Company.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

Business combination and basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries. Inter-company transactions and
balances between group companies together with unrealised profits
are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of impairment on the asset transferred, in which case the loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from the effective
dates of acquisition or up to the effective dates of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with those used by
other members of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Business combination and basis of consolidation (Continued)

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is accounted for using the
acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured at the
aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value of assets transferred, liabilities
incurred and equity interests issued by the Group, as the acquirer. The
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are principally measured
at acquisition-date fair value. The Group’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree is re-measured at acquisition-date fair value and the resulting
gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss. The Group may elect, on a
transaction-by-transaction basis, to measure the non-controlling interest
either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. Acquisition-related costs incurred are expensed.

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a
loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying
amounts of the Group’s interest and the non-controlling interest are
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.
Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interest
is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal
is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest
and (i) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill),
and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interest. Amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the
subsidiary are accounted for in the same manner as would be required if
the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interest
is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus the non-controlling
interest’s share of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive
income s attributed to non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interest having a deficit balance.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able to exercise
control. The Company controls an investee if all three of the following
elements are present: power over the investee, exposure, or rights,
to variable returns from the investee, and the ability to use its power
to affect those variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts
and circumstances indicate that there may be a change in any of these
elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in
subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment loss. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e RERMEE (8)

31 March 2018 —F—
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment loss.

Historical cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its present working condition and
location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after the asset has been
put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance and overhaul costs, is
charged to the profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations
where it is probable that future economic benefits of the expenditure will
flow to the entity, and the cost of which can be measured reliably, the
expenditure is capitalised as an additional cost of the asset or a separate
asset.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of items of property,
plant and equipment, over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The useful lives are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis. The principal annual rates are as follows:

33%
14% - 33%
14% - 20%
20%

Computer equipment
Office equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit
or loss.

Investment properties

Investment property is property held either to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation or for both, but not held for sale in the ordinary course of
business, use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. Investment property is measured at cost on
initial recognition and subsequently at fair value with any change therein
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e) Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on trade date where

the purchase or sale of a financial asset is under a contract whose terms

require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the

market concerned, are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction

costs, except for those financial assets classified as at fair value through

profit or loss, which are initially measured at fair value. During the year, the

Group’s financial assets are classified as loans and receivables which are

subsequently accounted for as follows:

U

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any identified
impairment losses. Interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the
recognition of interest would be immaterial.

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss,
are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of reporting
period. Financial assets are impaired where there is objective
evidence that as a result of one or more events that occurred after
the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future
cash flows of the asset have been impacted. Objective evidence of
impairment could include:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or
financial re-organisation; or

significant changes in the technological, market, economic or
legal environment that have an adverse effect on the debtor.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e RERMEE (8)

31 March 2018
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e) Financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets

If any such evidence exists, impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate, where the effect of discounting is
material. This assessment is made collectively where financial assets
carried at amortised cost share similar risk characteristics, such as
similar past due status, and have not been individually assessed as
impaired. Future cash flows for financial assets which are assessed
for impairment collectively are based on historical loss experience for
assets with credit risk characteristics similar to the collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be linked objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment loss was recognised, the impairment loss is reversed
through profit or loss. A reversal of an impairment loss shall not result
in the asset’s carrying amount exceeding that which have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.

Impairment losses are written off against the corresponding assets
directly, except for impairment losses recognised in respect of trade
and other receivables, whose recovery is considered doubtful but
not remote. In this case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts are
recorded using an allowance account. When the Group is satisfied
that recovery is remote, the amount considered irrecoverable is
written off against trade and other receivables and any amounts
held in the allowance account relating to that debt are reversed.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously charged to the
allowance account are reversed against the allowance account. Other
changes in the allowance account and subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off directly are recognised in profit or loss.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset and allocating interest income over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset, or where appropriate, a shorter period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e) Financial assets (Continued)

(f

(iv)  Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises financial assets only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or when the financial
asset has been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for
derecognition in accordance with HKAS 39.

Financial liabilities and equity instrument issued by the Group

U

(i)

(i)

Classification as debt or equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities, including other payables, deposit received and
accruals and borrowings are initially measured at fair value, net of
transaction costs and are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised
on an effective yield basis.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial liability and allocating interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life
of the financial liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e RERMEE (8)

31 March 2018 —F—
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

()

(9)

(h)

Financial liabilities and equity instrument issued by the Group
(Continued)

(iv)  Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the
Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire.

Where the Group issues its own equity instruments to a creditor to
settle a financial liability in whole or in part as a result of renegotiating
the terms of that liability, the equity instruments issued are the
consideration paid and are recognised initially and measured at
their fair value on the date the financial liability or part thereof is
extinguished. If the fair value of the equity instruments issued cannot
be reliably measured, the equity instruments are measured to reflect
the fair value of the financial liability extinguished. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability or part thereof
extinguished and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss
for the year.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and deposits held at
call with banks, and other short-term highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Operating leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets
concerned to the lessees. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense on the
straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Benefits received
and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are also
spread on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Thiz Technology Group Limited  ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18

4.

L2

O}

(9

(h)

@%fﬁk% (mE )

REBRTeemaERiERTH

(&)

(v) AR EFEE
BEAEE SRABERRR - BUSSKEE - K
EERIERSREE -

WA EESHER B E R RERAET
A zBRATANENZHABIOSRAE
T 2 AT RENFINRE - G
SRAEIETED) EHE A2 A TEER
KEt8 - MEBTRATAZ ATEREAE
e ARATARCDEHERBEZAFE
AE-CHEHESRABEEDHY) ZKE
RN RER 2 ZBIORFAR B RN

,7J
s °

ReEKRESEIEB

RehkBiieEEAEE BETFERS RBRITERER
KA ER SR EHERE REEXNEEED
R EREBMANBE=EA SRR E -

KrEma

ERNZBGRCBBREENAERZBRED R
B L EREETFEAEAR  BESHEARERE -
HirERO D BALEHE -

FEEERLEA

REMEZ B WA TDNABHEBANAERENE
SNHER - AR EREMELE 2N E
BERARGAC HEEEZREE - WHNBEHANA
BAERRABF °

FEEERAENA
REMEBRTZ2ENESDABERZENEBEES

HARY %E\L Wk - ERFT K EEEREND
Yo R e W R 25 TR R AR B S A B ARVEDIBR -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

0]

(i

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal
or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Impairment of other assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there
is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss or
an impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss
(if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (“CGU”) to which the asset belongs. Recoverable amount
is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset
for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than
its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of
the asset (or CGU) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or CGU) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k) Taxation

Taxation for the year comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary activities adjusted
for items that are non-assessable or disallowable for income tax purposes
and is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes
and the corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Deferred tax
liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates expected to apply in the period
when the liability is settled or the asset is realised based on tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax liabilities arising from initial recognition of assets and liabilities
in a transaction which is not a business combination and at the time of
the transaction affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profits are not
recognised.

An exception to the general requirement on determining the appropriate
tax rate used in measuring deferred tax amount is when an investment
property is carried at fair value under HKAS 40 “Investment Property”.
Unless the presumption is rebutted, the deferred tax amounts on these
investment properties are measured using the tax rates that would apply
on sale of these investment properties at their carrying amounts at the
reporting date. The presumption is rebutted when the investment property
is depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all the economic benefits embodied in the property
over time, rather than through sale.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net
basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

m

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, foreign
currency transactions are translated into individual entity’s functional
currency at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at the end of reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on
the retranslation of monetary items, are included in profit or loss.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets
and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations (including comparatives)
are expressed in Hong Kong dollars using exchange rates prevailing
at the end of reporting period. Income and expenses items (including
comparatives) are translated at the average exchange rates for the year,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the year, in which case
the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in translation reserve. Such translation differences, to the
extent attributable to the owners of the Company, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period when the foreign operations are disposed of.

(m) Employees’ benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than
termination benefits) that are expected to be settled wholly before
twelve months after the end of the annual reporting period in which
the employees render the related service. Short term employee
benefits are recognised in the year when the employees render the
related service.

(i) Defined contribution retirement plans

The Group’s contributions to the defined contribution retirement
scheme are expensed as incurred when the services are rendered by
the employees.

(i)~ Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised on the earlier of when the
Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and when
the Group recognises restructuring costs involving the payment of
termination benefits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

eV BREMEE (E)

31 March 2018 —Z—/\ff=A=+—H

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BEEFTBR(EE)
(n) Borrowing costs (n) fBFRAR
Borrowing costs attributable directly to the acquisition, construction or HUGEEETE BRATIEEREBEES AJEET
production of qualifying assets which require a substantial period of time AR E A EREEARBEZERKAE 15
to be ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the SEBIEZEEBERAZ — 2D - BEAEFRANZESR
cost of those assets. Income earned on temporary investments of specific EZETERES IS EBEEZ WA 2REHERK
borrowings pending their expenditure on those assets is deducted from REVERR AR « FTEEMIERK A EREER
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are recognised in RIBEIRAFER ©

profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

(o) Related parties (o) BRAEAL

(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the (@)
Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is @ member of key management personnel of the Group.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions (b)
apply:

()  The entity and the Group are members of the same group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary
is related to the others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or
an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity
is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of
the employees of the Group or an entity related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified
in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)()) has significant influence over the entity
or is a member of key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,

provides key management personnel services to the Group or to
the Group’s parent.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(0)

(p)

Related parties (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who
may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their
dealings with the entity and include:

(i)  that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(i) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic
partner.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated customer returns, rebates
and other similar allowances and excludes value added tax or other sales
related taxes.

()  Revenue from sales of goods is recognised upon transfer of the
significant risks and rewards of ownership to the customer. This
is usually taken as the time when the goods are delivered and the
customer has accepted the goods.

(i)  Revenue from provision of Fintech solutions is recognised on the
stage of completion of the transaction at the end of the reporting
period which is measured by reference to the milestones achieved by
the Group and accepted by customers.

(i) Revenue from provision of Linux-based and other solutions and
Fintech related post contract support services which run for a set
period of time and where contractual services are performed by an
indeterminate number of acts is recognised on a straight-line basis
over the terms of the respective contracts.

(iv) Rental income is recognised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy for operating leases set out in Note 4(h).

(v)  Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the
effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

oA AT R R M ()

31 March2018 —Z—N\F=HA=+—H

5. REVENUE, OTHER REVENUE AND GAINS 5. A ~ EfthlR ARURES

An analysis of the Group’s revenue, other revenue and gains is as follows:

REBWA T EADRA T w2 DT -

2018 2017
—E-N\F S
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FAT
Revenue: ONE

Rental income e WA 1,543 1,476

Income from provision of solutions pertaining to R T EARHR AR =AU

— Fintech and related post contract — S B RIERE % ERS
support services 12,643 -
- Linux-based and others —Linux Z&t & Bt R4 998 415
15,184 1,891
Other revenue and gains: HAA Rz
Fair value gain on investment properties (Note 15) REMEAFEWE (FFE15) 6,471 1,625
Gain on extinguishment of amount due to SRR AR SR A AR U (iRt 21)

a shareholder (Note 21) 10,554 -
Interest income HEWA 43 34
Sundry income HMIBA 199 36

17,267 1,695
Revenue, other revenue and gains WA~ AU A R U2k 32,451 3,586
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group determines its operating segments based on the reports reviewed
by the chief operating decision-maker that are used to make strategic decisions
and to assess the performance.

The Group has three (2017: three) reportable segments. Each of the Group’s
reportable segments represents a strategic business unit that offers products
and services which are subject to risks and returns that are different from those
of other business segments. Details of the business segments are summarised
as follows:

(@ the trading business segment that engages in the trading of computer
accessories and household goods;

(b) Software development segment which provides solutions pertaining to
Linux-based software and hardware products and other technical support
services. During the year, the Group has expanded its scope of services to
provide Fintech solutions and related post contract support services; and

(c) the property leasing segment that engages in property leasing in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

Segment assets exclude cash and cash equivalents and other unallocated head
office and corporate assets as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude amount due to the spouse of a director, amount
due to a director, amount due to a shareholder, deferred tax liabilities and other
unallocated head office and corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed
on a group basis.

There was no inter-segment sale or transfer during the year (2017: HK$NIl).
Central revenue and expenses including other revenue and gains (except for
fair value gain on investment properties) and finance costs are not allocated
to the operating segments as they are not included in the measurement of the
segments’ profit/(loss) that is used by the chief operating decision-makers for
assessment of segment performance.
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31 March 2018

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

6. NEIRS (48)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fREMIBREM S (E)

—E-N\F=A=+—H

Thiz Technology Group Limited  ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18

(a) Business segments (a) NI
Trading business Software development Property leasing Consolidated
55K BHHY NERE &
Fintech related  Linux-based and others
SRNHIER Linx 2R AR5

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

ZE-N\F ZF-+%F ZF-N\E Z5+%F ZB-N\E -T-+F ZF-N\F F+F ZB-N\F T 4F

HK$'000 HKS000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HK$'000  HK$'000

Tén TErT THR  TEr  TEn  TEr  TAr  TEAr  TEn  TEn

Revenue from extenal customers REMREEZMA - - 12,643 - 998 415 1,543 1476 15,184 1,801

Inter-segment revenue DERERA - - - - - - - - - -

Reportable segment revenue EEE:BELON - - 12643 - 998 415 1,543 1476 15,184 1,801

Reportable segment (oss)/proft A2RAB(HR) /47 (820) (717 6914 - T4 252 7739 2740 14547 2,075

Reportable segment assets NERAHEE 140 186 256 - 2 19 53125 42045 53548 42250

Reportable segment liabilties P LR (1] (76) (431) - - 6) (482) (582) (920) (663)

Other segment information: EtAHHER

Fair value gain on investment properties & W1% 2 AFEME - - - - - - 64T 1625 6471 1,625

Depreciation it - 2 1 - - 2 - - 1 4

Unallocated depreciation FOENE 2 5

Total depreciation REEE 13 9

Additions to non-current assets PNEFERESEE - - 51 - - - - - 59 -
Unallocated addtions to FARMEERSEE

non-current assets - 13

Total additions to non-current assets MEFREELR 51 13



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
IREMIBREM S (E)

31 March2018 —F—/\F=A=+—H

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. NEPIMS (58)

(b) TSW|APZIEM,(E8) - EEREEZHER

(b) Reconciliation of reportable segment profit/(loss), assets

and liabilities

2018 2017
—E-N\F S
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FHTT
Profit/(loss) before taxation BREBLATER(B518)
Reportable segment profit A2 M ERF 14,547 2,275
Other revenue g A 10,796 70
Corporate and other unallocated expenses PEREMRSREHZ (4,177) (5,163)
Finance costs BhE AR (968) (961)
Consolidated profit/(loss) before taxation BB ARG =T (EE) 20,198 (3,779)
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets AI2HOHEE 53,548 42,250
Cash and cash equivalents Be MR EMEEE 39,003 17,492
Unallocated corporate assets ROBEEEE 1,270 207
Consolidated total assets MEBERE 93,821 59,949
Liabilities afE
Reportable segment liabilities BEE =L (920) (663)
Current tax liabilities EHBIEAR (791) -
Deferred tax liabilities RERIAA & (4,572) (2,245)
Unallocated corporate liabilities ROBEESRE
— Amount due to the spouse of a director —ENESRBRIE (125) (491)
— Amount due to a director —ERESHE (2,609) (3,723)
— Amount due to a shareholder — FER AR R SR8 (486) (34,789)
— Proceeds from share subscriptions — TEYAR 19 FREE P15 5008
received in advance (20,000) -
- Others —Hh (1,444) (1,580)
(24,664) (40,583)
Consolidated total liabilities rAEBERE (30,947) (43,491)
BN RS BB R AR - 2017/18 Fi#f
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& AT R R M e ()

31 March2018 —Z—N\F=HA=+—H

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
(c) Geographic information

During the reporting period, the Group’s operations and non-current
assets other than financial instruments (specified non-current assets) are
located in Hong Kong, Taiwan and the PRC (2017: Hong Kong, Taiwan
and the PRC). The specified non-current assets information below is based
on the location of assets.

Segment information of the Group by geographical locations of customer
is presented as below:

Hong Kong
£

2018 2017
“E-N\E —T+%&
HK$'000  HK$'000
TET  TEL

7B (4&)

() thisyEpAER
RIS AREZEBRERDEE(SRIA
(REIFRBARE) BRI RNES - AERPE(=

T—tF BB BERTE) - UTHEIFRDE
EERTIABEMEIED

BEPREME D ANER 2 D EERNT

Taiwan PRC Consolidated
=) | H &8

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
ZB-NF T—+F ZB-N\F “T—+F ZB-N\F —TLF
HK$000 HKS'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000  HKE000
TRT  TErT TR TET  TEx  TARL

Revenue from external customers  RESNREE Z A 2,800

Specified non-current assets HEEREEE 9

(d) Information about major customers

Revenue from the Group’s major customers which contributed 10% or
more of the Group’s revenue are set out below:

5,940 309 6,444 1,582 15,184 1,891

- 1 53,170 42,050 53,179 42,062

(d) EBEFZER

REBRBEREBRA10% I ENETEESZ
WAERZIAT

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FT
Software development: BFRAE

Customer A BEFA 5,940 N/ATNE AR
Customer B ®FB 3,073 N/ATE A
Customer C EFC 2,800 N/ATE A
Customer D EFD N/ATEA 309

Property leasing segment: YFEHEEDI :
Customer E BFE N/ATER 752
Customer F =FF N/ATEA 309
Customer G EFG N/ATEA 197
11,813 1,567
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
IREMIBREM S (E)

31 March2018 —F—/\F=A=+—H

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BYERK
2018 2017
—E-N\F S
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FAT
Interest payable to a director (Note 22) ERESFE (Mix22) 86 134
Interest payable to the spouse of a director (Note 20)  FET 2 EAMBF & (Ff3E 20) 5 19
Interest payable to a shareholder (Note 21) FESAR R A B (FiEE21) 877 808
968 961
8. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION 8. MRFRADEM,(E8)
2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—+F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FAT
Profit/(loss) before taxation is arrived at after charging:  BxFi a1 Al (E518) &£ F0BR T 51 &8 -
Cost of sales and services (Note below) SHE RARTSACA (T 3CHTEE) 3,529 77
Depreciation e 13 9
Minimum operating lease payments: CERE  RIRAEHNEE
office premises and a staff quarter MAEMERETIEE 723 696
Auditor’s remuneration ZEMME 603 575
Staff costs (Note below) 8 TACA (SRR
(including directors’ emoluments): (PIEESEHS) -
Salaries and other benefits Fre REAMETR 6,316 3,572
Pension scheme contributions RNEFT MR 1,314 211
7,630 3,783
Note: Staff costs of HK$3,461,000 (2017: HK$NIl) are also included in “Cost of sales and MRE © B ITANAN 3,461,000 8L (ZF—tF : THT) Mt A T8
services”. ERRIEARA ] ©

BIrs RIS E AR AR 2017/18 F3k 65



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fREMIBREM S (E)

31 March2018 —Z—N\F=H=+—H

9. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES’ 9. EBNBHRITBASEIE
EMOLUMENTS
(@) Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules in @ MRIZEGEM ETRAIEEEBRRNEE (5F622F) %

38315 ([ & ) R A RIARAI(E622GE ) (FES
BAHZERBEE) (ZRADEEZEEHSOT

relation to the disclosure under Section 383 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622) (the Ordinance) and the Companies (Disclosure
of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation (Cap.622G) (the

Regulation) are as follows:

Salaries,
allowances Pension
Directors’ and other scheme
fees benefits contributions Total
e 2ER EBike
EBEWS Heb@Fl sTEIHER aEt
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FAT FET FET FHET
2018 —E-N\F
Executive Directors: WITESE -
Wong Hoi Wong TolE - 1,030 18 1,048
Lin En Fu MWAEE - 486 - 486
Non-executive Directors: FEHITES -
Lin Chien Hsin R 48 - - 48
Hsieh Yi Chen HEZE 48 - - 48
Wu Chiao Ru RRT54A 48 - - 48
Independent Non-executive Directors: B IERITES -
Chan Mei Sze PR 48 - - 48
Chu Meng Chi KA 48 - - 48
Lin Yan Jenny Rk 48 - - 48
288 1,516 18 1,822
2017 —E—+tF
Executive Directors: WITES :
Wong Hoi Wong T - 1,030 18 1,048
Lin En Fu MEH - 486 - 486
Non-executive Directors: FEHNITESE -
Lin Chien Hsin REHT 48 - - 48
Hsieh Yi Chen HEZE 48 - - 48
Wu Chiao Ru ARI540R 48 - - 48
Independent Non-executive Directors: BUERITES :
Chan Mei Sze FRIEF 48 - - 48
Chu Meng Chi ot 48 - - 48
Lin Yan Jenny WAk 48 - - 48
288 1,516 18 1,822

RAFEMBEFE  BECFAESHREXRER
TS 2 25 ARBEEE( 2@ ek k&
Bz WES N T EAES -

There were no arrangements under which a director waived or agreed to
waive any emoluments, and neither incentive payment nor compensation
for loss of office was paid to any director during the current and prior year.
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES’

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(o)

Details of emoluments paid to the five highest paid individuals during the
year included two directors (2017: two directors) whose emoluments are
set out above. Details of remuneration of the remaining three (2017: three)
highest paid employees of the Group during the year are as follows:

& AT R R M R ()

31 March 2018

9. ESBKSRITHAEZME (18)

b)) REARELESHFALTEEREESRER(ZT—t

—E-\F=A=+—H

FMBER) XN 2FEEIIDMLE - RERA -

REBZHBRT=2(ZE—1F  ZR)RFHEE

ZWez FEHST

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Salaries, allowances and other benefits e EMREAMBETR 978 906
Pension scheme contributions BIREE B 44 40
1,022 946
The aggregate emoluments of each of the highest paid employees were RAFERBAFE BEE=FEENHSLE

less than HK$1,000,000 for the current and prior years.

The aggregate emoluments of each of the members of senior management
were within the following bands:

#9014 1,000,000 7T °

BREEESKE NS ERE MIFHRER

2018 2017

—EB-N\F T —+F

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

AE N

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z% 1,000,000 % 7T 7 7
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T 2 1,500,000 47T 1 1

BRI B AR AR 2017/18 F¥k
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e RERMEE (8)

31 March 2018 —F—

NE=A=+—H

10.PENSION SCHEMES

11

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance, for all of those employees who are eligible to
participate in the scheme. The MPF Scheme has operated since 1 December
2000. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The
Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries which operate in the PRC are
required to participate in a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. The PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute a
percentage of its payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The central
pension scheme is responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to
all retired employees and the Group has no further obligations for the pension
payments on post-retirement benefits beyond the annual contributions.

The Group’s contributions to pension schemes for the year ended 31 March
2018 amounted to HK$1,314,000 (2017: HK$211,000).

.TAXATION

(@) Taxation for the year

11.

RifE st S

AEBRBQHERBEF G - REMBELEERS
,\a+§|21E,\}ELﬁE§E€§%‘H$ NEEIRRAE R &) (758
ReFrdl)) REESHIE —FTTTF+ A —AEH
RIBIF - AREREEREAF SR —B DL

RARZRRES & SR RIE L R R R A HIRR o
S AT Zééﬁﬁéﬁﬁ%f@%@ CEARECEE
DHEFE - AEERRRSF AL ZBEIRRZEE
BEFME -

R BEEE 2 ARRIMNBAR ZEEASEHEHTIK
FEE R RBARESEE - ZFTRMBRRART S
R—Bo AP RRKRSFSEH R - hRBAREF
FAXNERDRNERZMERKE  MAKEBA

PMEEHFAINZ RKERFIREE tRIKS BT -
REZE=ZZ—\F=ZA=1+—BLFE A£EELR
R& 5 &I 301,314,000 8 70 (= — 4 : 211,0008
JT) e

Ria

(@) AFEBIHE

2018 2017
—E-N\F S
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FAT

Current tax & EATIR
- Hong Kong — &8 134 -
— Elsewhere —H )5 700 -
834 -
Deferred tax (Note 11) BRI (FIFE11) 1,979 790
Taxation for the year AREERIA 2,813 790

Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year has been made at 16.5%
of the estimated assessable profits. Taxation elsewhere has been made at
a tax rate applicable to the relevant jurisdictions. No provision for current
tax had been made in the year ended 31 March 2017 as the Group had no
estimated assessable profits for that year.
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REE IR EE ERDUE FH0 16.5% SLEBFIEH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

11.TAXATION (Continued)

e BREMEE (E)

31 March2018 —Z—\F=A=+—H

1 1 TRI,E\ (mE)

(@) Taxation for the year (Continued) @ AFEHREE)
Taxation for the year can be reconciled to profit/(loss) before taxation per ANEEHMBHEGABELEMEEKGSRETE
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income BRADET, (B8) 2 HeRnT -
as follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —tF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHERT FHET
Profit/(loss) before taxation BELALEF(EB) 20,198 (3,779
Taxation charge/(credit) calculated at Hong Kong 1% 16.5% (ZZ—+4F : 16.5%) 2 &

Profits Tax rate of 16.5% (2017: 16.5%) FMEBREFE BB L (BT A) 3,333 (623)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TT?D?RI%?S‘ZZ?R? Vit 771 958
Effect on different tax rate of subsidiaries REMEIEREELE ZHE AT

operating in the other jurisdictions TRBER 22 721 170
Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses RERREBB BB E 210 288
Tax effect of other unrecognised deductible Hih AR MR ER

temporary differences 2R R 39 1)
Utilisation of unrecognised tax losses AT FEARERBIEEE

in previous years (452) -
Tax effect of non-taxable items TAEHIEE 2R E (1,809) @)
Taxation for the year AEERIA 2,813 790

(o) The components of recognised deferred tax liabilities are as follows: (b) BHERELEHBEBEZEKNBAIWT :
Accelerated Revaluation of
depreciation investment
allowance properties Total
hnEBiE
e REMEEMR at
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FET FHET
At 1 April 2016 R-E—XRFMNA—A 951 660 1,611
Charge for the year REFENRR 384 406 790
Exchange realignment FE 5 AR (84) (72) (156)
At 31 March 2017 RZZE—+tF=A=+—H 1,251 994 2,245
Charge for the year REFENR 361 1,618 1,979
Exchange realignment INEFEE 148 200 348
At 31 March 2018 RZZE—N\F=A=+—H 1,760 2,812 4,572
BN RS BB R AR - 2017/18 F#f

69



70

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& AT R R M e ()

31 March 2018 —Z—\#f=HA=+—H

11.TAXATION (Continued)

(c) The components of unrecognised deductible temporary differences are as

11. TRIA (4&)

(€ RERAHRERFIEZRZEKIEILT

follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\F T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FET
Unutilised tax losses REARIAEIE
PRC subsidiaries AR EB A A 3,792 5,461
Taiwan subsidiary BENB AR - 1,458
Companies operating in Hong Kong REBLE 2 NE] 22,358 22,358
26,150 29,277
Provision gl - 1,128
Decelerated tax allowances BIRTHIEITE - 6
26,150 30,411
Note: PFHEE -

Deferred tax assets in respect of the deductible temporary differences have not been
recognised in the financial statements owing to the absence of objective evidence in
respect of the availability of sufficient taxable profits that are expected to arise to offset
against the deductible temporary differences.

The unutilised tax losses accumulated in the PRC subsidiaries and the Taiwan
subsidiary would expire in five years and ten years from the respective year of loss
sustained respectively. The unutilised tax losses accumulated in those group entities
operating in Hong Kong can be carried forward indefinitely.

12.DIVIDEND

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company during the year (2017:
HK$NIl).

13.EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

The calculation of basic earnings per share for the year ended 31 March 2018
is based on the profit attributable to owners of the Company of HK$17,394,000
(2017: loss attributable to owners of the Company of HK$4,559,000) and
weighted average of 228,750,919 (2017: 225,570,261) ordinary shares in issue
during the year.

The Company has no dilutive potential ordinary shares outstanding during the
years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017. Accordingly, the basic and diluted
earnings/(loss) per share for the respective years ended 31 March 2018 and
2017 are the same.
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BINRE FEERE A E BT HE S 2 EERBUR T R AR AT
Bz EREER - BT ERPERE AL AR TR
ERERBLEHRAE -

FEEEENBARRE L ADARHABREANNERL
EERFEERFARTFALR - REBLEZRRZREY
BRI A R A -

12. Bz 8

AARREARGRELEREMNLE (ZF—LF F
I

13. BREMN,(&18)

HE-_Z— \FZA=Z+—BLFE  SREXRREFT
BARAREE AEEEF 17,394,000 (ZF—(F :
AN B A A FE(RETIE 4,559,000 8 7T) RAERB TN
LR 228,750,919 i (ZF—+4F : 225,570,261
AR ETHE -

REBEE-ZT-N\FR=ZZT—tF=A=+—HIEFE"
ARRWERMAEEE N 2 EBRKR - At HEZT
—NERZF—+F=R=+—HLFEZEREAK
HEE1EARR -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
IREMBREM S (E)

31 March2018 —F—/\F=A=+—H

14.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. W% - MER®R

Furniture
Computer Office and Motor
equipment equipment fixtures vehicles Total
BHRE BRAERE BRREE "E Met
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET FAET FAET FHT FHT
Cost: B
At 1 April 2016 RZZE—RFMNA—A 586 1,195 395 217 2,393
Additions N 13 - - - 13
Disposals HE @ - 1) - ©)
At 31 March 2017 R_ZE—+H=A=1+—8H 597 1,195 394 217 2,403
Additions B 42 9 - - 51
At 31 March 2018 R-ZZE-NFE=A=1+—-H 639 1,204 394 217 2,454
Accumulated depreciation: RENE
At 1 April 2016 RZZE—RFMNA—A 583 1,185 395 217 2,380
Charge for the year REELH 5 4 - - 9
Eliminated on disposals HERK 8 @ - 1 - ©
At 31 March 2017 R_ZE—+F=A=1+—8H 586 1,189 394 217 2,386
Charge for the year AFEEZH 9 4 - - 13
Exchange adjustment SN B 1 - - - 1
At 31 March 2018 R=ZZE-NE=A=1+-H 596 1,193 394 217 2,400
Carrying amount: BRE(E
At 31 March 2018 RZE-\E=ZA=+—-H 43 11 - - 54
At 31 March 2017 RZZT—tF=A=+—H 11 6 - - 17
BN RS BB R AR - 2017/18 F#f 71
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& AT R R M e ()

31 March 2018 —Z—\#f=HA=+—H

15.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

15. IR EME

HK$'000
FHT

Fair value: NE -
At 1 April 2016 RZE—ARFMNA—AH 42,814
Change in fair value included in other gains (Note 5)  FIAE bzt 2 A F{EEZE) (H5E5) 1,625
Exchange realignment b 5 A (2,394)
As 31 March 2017 RZE—+tF=A=1+—H 42,045
Change in fair value included in other gains (Note 5) B AE Uizt 2 A FEE S (FH5E5) 6,471
Exchange realignment SN 2 4,609
At 31 March 2018 R-EB-NF=ZA=+—H 53,125

The rental income earmned by the Group from its investment properties leased out
under operating leases amounted to HK$1,543,000 (2017: HK$1,476,000) for
the year. Direct operating expenses arising on the investment properties in the
year amounted to HK$Nil (2017: HK$77,000).

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31 March 2018 has
been arrived at on market value basis carried out by RHL Appraisal Limited, an
independent firm of professional valuer who holds a recognised and relevant
professional qualification and has recent experience in the location and category
of the investment properties being valued.

The fair value of investment properties is a level 3 recurring fair value
measurement. A reconciliation of the opening and closing fair value balance is
set out in the above table.

Change in unrealised gain for the year included in profit or loss for investment
properties held at 31 March 2018 amounted to HK$6,471,000 (2017:
HK$1,625,000).
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AEEAEERABRBELCLHERAZIREMENSEN
A& U A £ 1,543,000 7L ( —ZF —+ & : 1,476,000 7%
TL) c AFERIEEMEMEENEERCERIATHET
(ZZ—+4 : 77,00087T) °

REZE-NF=A=+-"BEEEZREVMEZ A FE
Ty BT FEMEKFITHERRBER QR RHEE
HEEEMSE  KFTHEERERARFEER K
HEEXER  HAMEENIRENENOGE RERAR
HRRAAER -

RAMENATERAFEIRETE LA FENE - BOLH
RAFEEHNE RN L -

RIE— N\FZA=+—BRASERENESALAEE
BEEBRRARESE N EEE56,471,0008 L (ZF—+
£ 1,625,000787T) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
IREMBREM S (E)

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The major inputs used in the fair value measurement of the Group’s investment

properties are set out below:—

31 March 2018

15. IR&EM* (18)

N

—E-\F=A=+—H

REBRENEQNFEAEBMAZIEGABERINT

Relationship of

Investment Fair value Valuation technique unobservable inputs
properties hierarchy and key inputs Significant unobservable inputs to fair value
fRE R R FUBERBEEDTF
REYHE DNFHEER FEWMABIE ERTABEHABE = LS
Commercial units Level 3 Comparison approach Recent market asking price of comparables, The higher the asking
[EEX:-AV FE34 The key input is recent to be taken into account of the discount on price, the higher the
market asking price of asking price and size between the subject fair value
comparables properties and the comparables, ranging from BERS - BAFE
thBUE HK$42,000 to HK$46,000 (2017: HK$28,000 BE
T B ABIE AT EAR to HK$36,000) per square meter.
LLEY) % 2 TS B AL BY% A BTISHE - EEBRETNR
BEMEHEALEME K] BEHEGF
77 42,000 7 7T Z 46,000 7 T (—F —+4F -
28,000 7% 36,0008 7T) ©
Car park spacing Level 3 Comparison approach Recent market asking price of comparables, The higher the asking
located in the F3M The key input is recent to be taken into account of the discount on price, the higher the

same building

of the above

commercial units
IR B Pl

I ERIAEZA

EXivi

The fair value measurement is based on the above properties’ highest and best

market asking price of
comparables

HEVE
TEHABB RO
tEBCRE ALz 5 EE

use, which does not differ from their actual use.

asking price and location between the subject
properties and the comparables, ranging
from HK$313,000 to HK$388,000 (2017:
HK$227,000 to HK$261,000) per car park
spacing.

AL ECARA AT ISAIE - £ BRERN
R BEYEREA L EOREM 20 - SEHT
JHE(i2 313,000 7 5T £ 388,000/ T ( — T —+
% : 227,000/ 7TE 261,000/87T)

B EER o

BRI S E B R AR

R EFEIRE LR ER

fair value
MERS -

BS

AIATE

B RRERE  BEEHR

2017/18 FFif
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& AT R R M e ()

31 March 2018 —Z—\#f=HA=+—H

16.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 16. FRiGHIE A Sl g
The details of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2018 are as follows: REZZ—N\F=ZA=+—0 " KHBARZFHBLOT :
Issued ordinary Percentage of
Place of incorporation/ shares/registered equity attributable
Name of company registration and operation capital paid up to the Company Principal activities
ERTEER AREELS
NEER SE AL, R R S i B HREMER REFSLE FEXEH
Subsidiary held directly
HESEZHEAR
Thiz Technology Group The British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong US$100 100 Investment holding
Holdings Limited RBRLES /B 100%7T RE R
Subsidiaries held indirectly
BHESEZHELR
Thizlinux Inc. The British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong US$1 100 Investment holding
RBRLES B 1257 REZER
Thizbiz Inc. The British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong US$1 100 Investment holding
RBELZHS S 1257 REZER
Thiz.com Inc. The British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong US$200,000 100 Investment holding
HBRLEE /B 200,000% 7T REER
Kingray International Inc The Biritish Virgin Islands/Taiwan US$2,000,000 100 Investment holding
EBRLHS B 2,000,000 27T, REZER
Thiz.com (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100 Investment holding and
ENBSFI B35 8T (F3E) B 10,0008 70 provision of software
BRAR development services
REFR AR B 5%
PR
Thiz Design Group Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100 Investment holding and
BE 10,0008 7T provision of management

Thiz Technology Group Limited  ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
IREMBREM S (E)

31 March2018 —F—/\F=A=+—H

The details of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2018 are as follows:

(Continued)

16.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Place of incorporation/

16. PRGBSl 2 iE R

€ M

Issued ordinary
shares/registered

Percentage of
equity attributable

(%&)

RZE-NF=ZRA=+—H MBRARAZFBWOT :
()

Name of company registration and operation capital paid up to the Company Principal activities
ERTEER AREELL

RNEER FEMAR AL R i B BREMES REESE EEXER

HEHTHEN Taiwan NT$1,700,000 100  Provision of software
BN AR AT Y- 1,700,000 #1 & #& development service
AEHRA] TR R 3RS

Beijing Thiz Ying Jia PRC, Limited Liability company US$1,950,000 100 Provision of software
International Trading FE - BRETAR 1,950,000 & 7T development service
Co., Limited (“Ying Jia”) TR BB 3 AR S
(Note)

b RENR & s BIRR
AMEARAR ([&3E])

(B&E)

ThizLinux Software (Shenzhen) PRC, Limited Liability company US$1,300,000 100 Provision of technical
Company Limited (Note) R BREEAR 1,300,000 37T support to Linux based

BB ERLE (RYI) BRAR (i) software and hardware

products
R Linux BRI (422 &y
Z B s &

B (B8 BREERAT PRC, Limited Liability company US$340,000 100 Property investment
(“Jing Rui”) (Note) FE - BREEAR 340,000 7L MERE
(MR 1) ()

g RN R B T B s PRC, Limited Liability company US$150,000 100  Provision of software
BRAA FE BRETAR 150,000 %7T development service

(Note)
(B=E)

Note: The subsidiaries are registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under the PRC

law.

In the opinion of the directors, the above subsidiaries principally affected the
results of the Group for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the

directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

Mo

ZEM

SRR 5 32 AR

ZEMBRRDRETEEREMZIEBELE -

BRI S E B R AR

BERR LHEMBRRAHAREAFERERERY
BIRKNBEEFEIEIEIND - MiRHEEGHERR
EZAR/EEERBRIE -

2017/18 FFif

75



76

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& AT R R M e ()

31 March2018 —Z—N\F=H=+—H

17.TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

17. B R H b EUGRIA - & NFRITRIA

2018 2017

—E-N\F T —+F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHT FAT

Trade receivables FEURBRIA 27 27
Other receivables, deposits and HA IR - 12$ RIERIA

prepayments, net of allowance (MBEHE) 1,612 368

1,639 395

Thiz Technology Group Limited  ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18

The average credit period granted to the Group’s customers of Linux-
based and others is 90 days (2017: 90 days). For customers of Fintech
related, the payments are generally several days before or after the invoice
date. As at 31 March 2018, the ageing analysis of the Group’s trade
receivables net of allowance for doubtful debts, based on the invoice date

was as follows:

(@ AEEGTLUwEGREMERREP 2 FIOEES
A90H (ZF—+t%F 1 90H) - Bt RBHRIAR 2 &
FPME  —RIREZHBASAERERABRED
X RZE-N\F=A=+—H BEZEZAH
FHEZASERYCRR(EMBREEB) 2RikD

T

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FAT

0 - 30 days 0Z30H 27 27
Over 360 days 360 HLA L - -
27 27




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

17.TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

(b) The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are past due but not impaired

& AT R R M R ()

31 March2018 —F—/\F=A=+—H

17. B RHEMEWRIE - BRERBEMTRIA
(#&)

b) RIF{EZCEHHE R E B IRIE 2 Rk o A in

are as follows: T
2018 2017
—E-N\F S
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Neither past due nor impaired N £ 2 B ORI (B 27 27

More than 6 months but not more than #AR61E A LA BT EBR 12 E A

12 months past due - -
Over one year —F LA - -
27 27

Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a small
number of independent customers that have no recent history of default.
Accordingly, management believes that no impairment allowance is
necessary in respect of these balances as there have not been a significant
change in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully
recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

18.BANK BALANCES AND CASH

5480 H 1B 180 R0 {8 ) P LK PR T B D 48 0T 58 AR RO 85
MABBYEFER - Bt ERERR  ;IRE
EREERUESAEPAZSERDRERT R
Wl B ARZ S A E LR E R - AEEL
BB TR

18. RITHBTFRIRE

2018 2017

S S —E—tE

HK$’000 HK$’000

FERT FAT

Bank balances and cash RITEERRE 39,003 17,492

At 31 March 2018, included in the Group’s bank balances and cash were
amounts of approximately HK$6,497,000 (2017: HK$5,324,000) denominated
in Renminbi (“‘RMB”) and kept in the PRC. RMB is not freely convertible into
other currencies. However, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

RZB-NF=ZA=+—0 ' 25EZRTLEGERS
# 496,497,000 7T (= — £ 4 : 5,824,000 7T) AA
RETAREDAEE  WHEHRTE - ARETATEH
HBEMER - A - IRIEPBKREINE EIRARTE KA
. SERNETERAT AEEBBEREETI
EEBKZIRITHAARBEAEAEH -

BRI B AR AR 2017/18 F¥k
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e RERMEE (8)

31 March 2018 —F—

NE=A=+—H

19.0THER PAYABLES, DEPOSITS RECEIVED AND

19. Efth[EfTFRIA - BWIRE KRIESHRIA

ACCRUALS

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHT

Proceeds from share subscriptions TEW AR 1D REB TS 5708 (F5E34)
received in advance (Note 34) 20,000 -
Deposit received BlES 756 516
Other payables and accruals H A RS SRIE R EATIR 1,430 1,313
22,186 1,829

20.AMOUNT DUE TO THE SPOUSE OF A DIRECTOR

21

The amount was unsecured, interest bearing at Hong Kong prime rate
calculated on a monthly basis and repayable on demand. The amount
outstanding at 31 March 2018 represented accrued interests which are non-
interest bearing. Interest charged during the year amounted to HK$5,000 (2017:
HK$19,000).

.AMOUNT DUE TO A SHAREHOLDER

The amount was unsecured, interest bearing at 3% per annum. On 31 March
2017, the shareholder confirmed in writing that no demand for the settlement of
the principal amount of HK$32,000,000 and accrued interest of HK$2,789,000
would be made on or before 30 June 2018. During the year, pursuant to the
subscription agreement as detailed in Note 23, the shareholder has subscribed
for and the Company has issued and alloted an aggregate of 35,180,000
ordinary shares of the Company of HK$1 each to settle the Group’s then
outstanding amount to the extent of HK$35,180,000 due to the shareholder. A
gain of approximately of HK$10,554,000 arising from settlement of this debt is
recognised in the profit or loss (Note 5).

Upon completion of the aforesaid subscription on 27 February 2018, the
amount due to the shareholder reduced to approximately HK$486,000 which
represented accrued interests not subject to interest and would be fully settled
on or before 31 March 2019. Interest charged during the year amounted to
HK$877,000 (2017: HK$808,000).
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20. [EfTESRBMIA

21.

N 2 FORTIERAER - EBRBENTHB (RARE
HEFHE) RARERER - RZF—-/\F=A=+—H
MAREESRIETHENENE - NERENNES

5,000 7T (ZZ—+4F : 19,0008 7T) °

& AR SRFRIB

HEAEEM BRENXI%TE - R_ZT— L F
“AZt+—H8 REZEERITCEREEALADA

32,000,000 7T FKIE - &5t FE 2,789,000 7 7T 7Y
ZE-NFARAZTARZAXMA - RER - IBEHME
23FFI MR - A RERADQ A B BT RECE
A 535,180,000 R AR R BREE 1 A LA E@AR - BA
VB BN SR B & B i R (8 4R A 8 < AR 3R R 1E 35,180,000 7%
T o BB ERFTE £ H14710,554,000 B T s R 1B %
AR AR (FHFES) ©

REMRER-_Z—NF_A=-+tATME BB
RIER D E4)486,000/8 7T - BT EMEAFIE - I

T

BRZE—NFE=ZA=+—ARZAREEE - RFER
I ER ) FI B A877,0008 7L ( ZF —+4F : 808,000 7T) ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

22.AMOUNT DUE TO A DIRECTOR

It represented amount due to Mr. Lin Chien Hsin of HK$2,609,000 (2017:
HK$3,723,000) which is unsecured, interest bearing at Hong Kong prime rate
per annum. On 31 March 2018, Mr. Lin Chien Hsin confirmed in writing that no
demand for settlement of the principal amount of HK$1,269,000 and accrued
interest of HK$1,340,000 would be made within 12 months from the end of
reporting period. Interest charged during the year amounted to HK$86,000
(2017: HK$134,000).

23.SHARE CAPITAL

e BREMEE (E)

31 March2018 —Z—\F=A=+—H

22. [EMESMIA

JE 5 BR 2 5 5 £ 2 3X38.2,609,0008 TL( =T — £ 4 -
3,723,000 ) HiEE R RIZEAREBFH XS -
RZZ—\F=ZA=+—B MEFEEEEERT
G EREEAS H1,269,0008 0.2 5 - T ERTFI &
1,340,000 B TR B AREBR 12 @A RER - FAE
7 8.5 86,0008 7T (= F—+4F : 134,000 7T) °

23. fR7K

Number of shares

of HK$1 each HK$’000
BREE1ET
HWRHHE FHERT
Authorised: VETE ¢
Ordinary shares Himik
At 1 April 2016, 31 March 2017 RZE-—ARFMNA—H - Z—tF=A
and 31 March 2018 Z—t+—HEZZE—)\F=ZA=+—H 430,000,000 430,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRAR
Ordinary shares Tk
At 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017 RZE—ARFNA—BR
RZZE—tF=A=+—H 225,570,261 225,570
Issue of shares to extinguish BT LA SEFE TR R
an amount due to a shareholder (Note) KA (FI3E) 35,180,000 35,180
At 31 March 2018 RZE—N\F=A=+—H 260,750,261 260,750
Note: Fff5E

Pursuant to the subscription agreement dated 25 September 2017 (as supplemented on
6 February 2018) entered into between the Company and Extra Bright Trading Limited (as
mentioned in Note 21), a shareholder of the Company, the shareholder agreed to subscribe
for and the Company agreed to issue and allot for an aggregate of 35,180,000 ordinary
shares of HK$1 each to settle the amount to the extent of HK$35,180,000 owed by the
Group to the shareholder. The subscription was completed on 27 February 2018. The
excess of the nominal value of the shares issued of HK$35,180,000 over their fair value
of HK$24,626,000, being the market price of the shares at the date of allotment of the
shares, amounting to HK$10,554,000 was debited to share premium (Note 25(d)) with the
corresponding amount of the gain arising from extinguishment of the debt recognised in the
profit of loss (Note 21).

R & AN A 7] B2 K2 7 A% 8 Extra Bright Trading Limited (20 5% 21
i) R=F—+ENA -+ RAFTIHNRERZ(R=_T—N\F
ZANBEETR) REARERERAD AR EETREEA
35,180,000 kAR R B REE 1B T L @A - LLEEAREER
%% 2 35,180,000 B LA E - RER —ZT— \F_A=-+tAH%
Bk o B 31T % 5 EI1E 35,180,000 7 7T 48 18 H A F & 24,626,000 7
TC (BN R BE 8 AR & BT {E) 2 10,554,000 8 7T » ERE T
SN IB R IR R A E S T A U AR £ 58 (MifaE21) B 5t
A 15 s B R (HiFE25(d))

BRI B AR AR 2017/18 F¥k
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fREMIBREM S (E)

31 March2018 —Z—N\F=H=+—H

24.CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE SHARES

24. Ol RR 18 SR

Number of shares

of HK$1 each HK$’000
BREE1ET
W &R FET
Authorised: VATE ¢
Non-voting convertible preference shares EIRE R E LR
At 1 April 2016, 31 March 2017 RZE—A"FHA—H HRZIZE—+tF=A
and 31 March 2018 =t+—BkZZ-N\F=A=+—H 90,000,000 90,000

The Company had no outstanding issued convertible preference shares as at 31
March 2017 and 2018.

25.RESERVES

(a)

(b)

(c)

Capital redemption reserve

The reserve represents the amount equivalent to the nominal value of the
Company’s shares cancelled arising from repurchased shares in prior
years.

Special reserve

The reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of
the shares of the Company and the nominal value of the shares of the
subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the reorganisation to rationalise the
structure of the Group in preparation for the listing of the Company’s
shares on the GEM.

Translation reserve

The reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies set out in Note 4().
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

25.RESERVES (Continued)

& AT R R M R ()

31 March2018 —Z—\F=A=+—H

25. &t (18)

(d) Reserves of the Company (d) RpalzEE
Capital
Share redemption Accumulated
premium Reserve losses Total
R AP RE BXEERE 2HER @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT FET FET THET
(Note 25(a))
(Fi5E25(8))
Balance at 1 Apri 2016 RZZE—RFNA—-B &R 27,272 84 (211,785) (184,429)
Loss and total comprehensive BEREAFE
income for the year il atk - - (12,694) (12,694)
Balance at 31 March 2017 W_ZE—+F=A=+-8R
and at 1 April 2017 T LFNA-Bz&ER 27,272 84 (224,479) (197,129)
Issue of shares to extinguish an amount  Z7T Rk (7 WA 5 4R AR
due to a shareholder (Note 23) FE (M3 23) (10,554) - - (10,554)
Loss and total comprehensive income ~ BERAFE 2 AN GEE
for the year - - (6,539) (6,539)
Balance at 31 March 2018 RZE-N\F=ZA=+—-HBz&# 16,718 84 (231,018) (214,216)

The Company had no distributable reserves at 31 March 2018. Under the
Companies Law (Cap. 22 Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands, the share premium is distributable to the shareholders
of the Company, provided that immediately following the date on which the
dividends is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position
to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

RRARPRZE-NF=ZA=+—BALEADIRRE
B REMERERRE (AR —FFHIFEHIE
228 - A RIER]) - BREBEE KRS RMR
AAFEMEREBRBEEBHERNER - BRiDEE
ADIRTARERR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& AT R R M e ()

31 March2018 —Z—N\F=H=+—H

26.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY

26. KA ATMFFARIRIRE

2018 2017
—EB-N\F —EtF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
b FExT FET
Non-current assets FREBEE
Interests in subsidiaries Fr{E M B AR 2 s 46,126 46,126
Current assets REEE
Bank balances and cash RITHEERRE 21,286 6,369
Prepayment TERRUE - 2
21,286 6,371
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables and deposits received HipEZEREWIES 20,858 837
Net current assets REBEEFE 428 5,534
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBER 46,554 51,660
Non-current liabilities FREEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FETB B A RIFIA 20 23,213
Net assets EEFE 46,534 28,447
EQUITY e
Share capital &S 23 260,750 225,570
Reserves i 25(d) (214,216) (197,123)
Total equity B 46,534 28,447
Director Director
WONG HOI WONG LIN EN FU
EF EF
By MEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
IREMBREM S (E)

27.0PERATING LEASES COMMITMENTS

Operating leases - lessor

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had future aggregate minimum lease rentals
receivable under non-cancellable operating leases as follows:

27.

31 March 2018

rEHaRIE

KEHE - BiEA

—E-\F=A=+—H

RZZ-NF=ZA=+—08 AEERETAIHELS

MEERREUFERE 2 ASAENT

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+tF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FiT FHT

Within one year —FR 898 1,020
In the second to fifth years inclusive EEFERF (BEEEMF) 626 1,467
1,524 2,487

The investment properties have committed tenants for an average term of one to
two years.

Operating leases - lessee

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had outstanding commitments under non-

REMEZ P FIAREER R —FEMF -

KEEE - &iEA

RIZ-NF=ZA=+—H FTEERPLEYVERE

cancellable operating leases in respect of office premises and a staff quarter, IEETAARECEHE  BERBITEAE  HBHAM
which fall due as follows: T

2018 2017
S Tt
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FAT
Within one year —FR 127 158
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_EERF(REERWNE) - 21
127 179

The leases are negotiated for an average term of one to two years with fixed
monthly rentals.

BOTHAP-—E2—F  BAXNETHES -

BRI B AR AR 2017/18 F¥k
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fREMIBREM S (E)

31 March 2018 —Z—\#f=HA=+—H

28.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Material related party transactions and balances are as follows:

(a)

(b)

(c)

Balances with related parties

Details are disclosed in Notes 20, 21 and 22 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Interest charged by related parties

Details are disclosed in Notes 20, 21 and 22 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Compensation of key management personnel

Details of directors’ emoluments are shown in Note 9(a) to the financial
statements.

The remuneration of other key management during the year was as

28. BRABALXRS

BEREMEANLTR S RAEHRIT

(a)

()

(c)

BRIBALT 2GR

BN A M BRRMEE20 - 21 R 22 NEE -

BRIEATHEZAIR

BN A M BRERMEE20 - 21 R 22 NEE -

TEERAS IS

EEME 2 FHERNPBREMEENE) ©

RER - BT ZEEFZMEMT

follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Short term benefits pSEEEER 978 906
Post-employment benefits ERAEH) 44 40
1,022 946

The directors are of the opinion that the balances with related parties and
related interest charged by related parties which also constitute connected
transactions under the GEM Listing Rules were carried out in the normal
course of business of the Group and conducted on terms no more
favourable than normal commercial terms.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

29.CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s capital management objectives are:

()  toensure the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern;

(i) to provide an adequate return to shareholders;

(i) to support the Group’s sustainable growth; and

(iv)  to provide capital for the purpose of potential mergers and acquisitions.

There is no change in the Group’s capital management objectives from prior
years.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of gearing ratio which is
calculated as total debts divided by total equity. Total debts are calculated as
total borrowings comprising amount due to the spouse of a director, amount
due to a shareholder and amount due to a director, as shown in Notes 20, 21
and 22 respectively. Total equity represents equity attributable to owners of the
Company comprising share capital and reserves as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The Group’s strategy is to keep the gearing ratio
as low as it can without material adverse impact on its liquidity.

& AT R R M R ()

31 March2018 —Z—\F=A=+—H

29. EINEREIR

REBMENEEE LT ¢

() MRAEEGEINFECEELERTE

(i) AREFREHEEERR

(i) TEAREFEEE: K

(v) REEARLGEITAIRES GF R UREE -

BT FEARL - AEBZEAEE B RWELE) -
AEBBEBEEABBL R (RAEBEBHHRABESTE)E
RERNEE - REIREFAE (BERNTESEBR
1 - EAREFIEREMNESZE(DBIMMEE20 - 21 &
22 ffrit) o MBRERBIA RN RIEE AFE(EHES © BIERAE
EARR R TR BV IR A I (1 o A S B A SR BS 2 28 AT AE IR

HEREELEREAT  BLETEHRDERES
EATHYE -

2018 2017

—E-)\F —T—+F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FH&T

Total debts BIETE 3,220 39,003
Equity T 63,208 16,783
Total debts to equity ratio RiEMEmLL 0.05 2.32

The Group sets the amount of equity capital in proportion to its overall financing
structure. The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of
the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders, issue new shares, or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

ARERERRAEBUIREEASHE - AREEE
HERER YRREHEBRREEPEEZRBS T
TEHARERE - BT RISUBEEEARSRE  AEEA
FERETRR LS SHE  MBRBEERA - #ITH
Bk HEEENREEE -

REETZINERHEIN 2 EARERS -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fREMIBREM S (E)

31 March2018 —Z—N\F=H=+—H

30.NOTE SUPPORTING CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 30. ZEREMEXME
OF CASH FLOWS

Recongiliation of liabilities arising from financing activities during the year ended REBEE=ZZ-—\F=ZA=+—HILFRN BEZEME
31 March 2018: ERBEZ R
Amount Amount due Amount due
due toa toa to the spouse
director shareholder of a director
ENEERE ERBRRME EAESRERE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAT FET
At 1 April 2017 R-_ZF—+FMWA—H 3,723 34,789 491
Changes from cash flows: RemeZE) -
— Repayment of principal HERE (960) - (234)
— Repayment of interest RS (240) - (137)
Non-cash transactions: FRERH -
— Issue of shares to extinguish an amount — BT LA SEFE AR R
due to a shareholder (Notes 21 and 23) FRIE (MsE21 & 23) - (35,180) -
— Accrued interests —FEEHFIE 86 877 5
Total changes from financing BE#E R (1,114) (34,303) (366)
At 31 March 2018 AN—E-)\F=ZA=+—H 2,609 486 125
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

31.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments in the normal
course of the Group’s business are credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and
currency risk.

(a) Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade and other
receivables. Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures to
these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

In respect of trade and other receivables, individual credit evaluations
are performed on all customers requiring credit over a certain amount.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customers as well as pertaining to the
economic environment in which the customers operate. Trade receivables
are generally due within 90 days from the date of billing. Debtors with
balances that are more than 2 months past due are requested to settle all
outstanding balances before any further credit is granted. Normally, the
Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual
characteristics of each customer. The default risk of the industry and
country in which customers operate also has an influence on credit risk but
to a lesser extent.

At 31 March 2018, the Group had a concentration of credit risk from one of
the five largest customers which related to software development segment
and accounted for 100% (2017: 100%) of the Group’s trade receivables
or HK$27,000 (2017: HK$27,000). There were no receivables from the
remaining four (2017: four) largest customers as at 31 March 2017 and
2018 as they either paid monthly rentals in advance or fully settled the
debts during the respective years.

& AT R R M R ()

31 March2018 —Z—\F=A=+—H

31. Bi5 R R EIR

AEESRTARAEERGRRETELZTERRAE
ERR - mBESRER  FEREREEERR

(a) EERMR

AEEZEERBREIEMBEKEMERKIAE
£ BEREREEREER  YREERKERHZ
EERER -

KRR EMEYRREMNE - AEERBRETE
BB EPHETENEEN G - WEFHEE
HUEPBED B &AL NRFNENEE
N AEBEFHFIEAREREFEEXRBNEE
RIBHAEM - RURBE - RBAEZAHEOAR
FE - EFASRAREBMER  —RIFEKR
EHE-SEERNAILBEMEER - £—RIER
T AEETgERELEMENR -

AREZFERREIEZEEFEAFETE - &
FEETEMEARZERTEFEEERR - B2
[EHIRK -

RZZE—N\FE=ZA=+—H0 AEEFEEEES
[ER - B 100% (ZZT—+4F 1 100%) 2 EUKERTESL
27,0008 7L (ZZF—+4 : 27,0008 70) AAEER
REFPZ—FER  WREHRESEHP - RZF
—tER-FE-N\EF=ZA=+—8 AAEFHT
ME(ZT—+F  ME) WEBKFKIERE - J7H
RERAFEEEFEINGARSRBREEED
FTEk -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fREMIBREM S (E)

31 March 2018 —Z—\#f=HA=+—H

31.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 31. BT RIREIE (48)

(b) Liquidity risk (b) MENERERR

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible for their own
cash management, including the short term investment of cash surpluses
and the raising of loans to cover expected cash demands, subject to
approval by the Company’s board when the borrowings exceed certain
predetermined levels of authority. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor
its liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending covenants,
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from related parties and other parties to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities of the
Group’s financial liabilities at the end of reporting period, which are based
on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates, or if floating, based on rates current at
the end of reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can be required

FERANEBLIERARSANESER B
ERESEREITEMRENERES - UEHE
FRLER - BEERSERRETOERSE
ABEAAREFRIA - AR HELETHE
RERBESBERRELETROZER - ARG
B MRS HENRAEBEALREMALR
BREMHAECEEE  EHEHRERADES
S -

TRIRAEERARBRHE R RIZCFTHOREE
ARERFESREE(BERAOMNERL (WEF
B)RBEREMRBITNERFEZNE) 2 FRE
DR - ARAEBERARARABERE@EIEZ &
B RS -

to pay.
Total
contractual Within 1
Carrying  undiscounted year or on
amount cash flow demand Over 1 year
EHEES: 35 R—FR
BREE ReReE REER —FH0E
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THT THT THT THT
2018 —E-N\F
Other payables, deposits HinER7IE - Bl
received and accruals e RIEFTHUR 2,186 2,186 2,186 -
Amount due to a director ERNESEHE 2,609 2,740 - 2,740
Amount due to the spouse of a director ENESRBHE 125 125 125 -
Amount due to a shareholder FERTRRRFIE 486 486 486 -
5,406 5,537 2,797 2,740
2017 —E-tF
Other payables, deposits HeEMFIE - BIK
received and accruals e RIEFTHOE 1,829 1,829 1,829 -
Amount due to a director [ERNESZTIA 3,723 3,910 - 3,910
Amount due to the spouse of a director [ENESRBHREA 491 516 516 -
Amount due to a shareholder FERTARR B 34,789 36,607 - 36,607
40,832 42,862 2,345 40,517
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

31.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(c)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from bank balances and
borrowings with variable interest rates. Borrowings issued at variable rates
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The Group’s interest rate
profile as monitored by management is set out below.

The following table details the interest rate profile of the Group at the end
of reporting period.

& AT R R M R ()

31 March2018 —Z—\F=A=+—H

31. B EREE (&)

(c) MIZREMRR

RER N EEREERIRE TN EGTE 2R
TR RMER - WIFBMEFT B ZBRBAEET
KBRS R R o AR 8 IR E B 52 M K
TBHER T

AT AR BN RE IR FIRGFE -

2018 2017
—E2-N\F —E—tF
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
BEFIE YRS
% HK$’000 % HK$'000
FEx FHET
Bank balances RITHETF 0.1% 39,003 0.2% 17,492
Variable rate borrowings EBN IR AR
Amount due to a director ENEEHIE-—F&
- principal 5.0% 1,269 5.0% 2,229
Amount due to the spouse ENEERBTIE 4%
of a director-principal - - 5.0% 234
1,269 2,463
Fixed rate borrowings & M &G R
Amount due to a shareholder [ERRRFIE-AE
- principal
- - 3.0% 32,000
Total borrowings fE s azE 1,269

The interest rates and terms of repayment of the Group’s borrowings are
disclosed in Notes 20, 21 and 22 to the financial statements.

At 31 March 2017 and 2018, a reasonably possible increase/decrease
in interest rate of 0.25% and 1.00% on bank deposits and variable rate
borrowings respectively, with all other variable held constant, would have
insignificant impact on the Group’s financial performance and accumulated
losses/equity for both years ended 31 March 2017 and 2018.

34,463

AEBMERZHNEREFPELSE M HREM T
20~ 21 K 22 IHEE -

RZE—+tFRZZE-)\F=ZA=+—08 " R1TF
TR EFEREROF RSB E B g EF T
[%0.25% % 1.00% ' FTB &Mt ESRFIE - $AK
BR_Z2—+tFER T \E=ZA=+—HIFEE
NP BERBE R 2TBENTETEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e RERMEE (8)

31 March 2018 =—ZE—/\F=HA=+—H

31.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) SRR EIR (&)

(c) Interest rate risk (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming that the
change in interest rates had occurred at the beginning of reporting period
and had been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for non-derivative
financial instruments in existence at the end of the reporting period. The
estimated basis points increase or decrease represents management’s
assessment of a reasonably possible change in interest rates over the
period until the end of next reporting period.

(d) Currency risk
Currency risk to the Group is minimal as majority of the Group’s
transactions are carried out in the respective functional currencies of the

group entities.

(e) Fair values estimation

All financial instruments are carried at amounts not materially different from
their fair values as at the end of respective reporting periods.

32.ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The Group’s financial position and financial performance are sensitive to
accounting methods, assumptions and estimates that underlie the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements. The Group bases the assumptions
and estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that
the Group believes to be reasonable and which form the basis for making
judgements about matters that are not readily apparent from other sources.
On an on-going basis, management evaluates its estimates. Actual results may
differ from those estimates as facts, circumstances and conditions change.

The selection of significant accounting policies, the judgements and other
uncertainties affecting application of those policies and the sensitivity of reported
results to changes in conditions and assumptions are factors to be considered
when reviewing the consolidated financial statements.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The
resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal to the actual
results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year are discussed below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

32.ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(Continued)

Recognition of revenue from provision of Fintech solutions and
related post contract support services

Revenue from provision of Fintech solutions and related post contract support
services is derived from fixed price contracts where management consider they
comprises two elements i.e. provision of Fintech solutions to customers which
typically lasts for four months to fifteen months and provision of related post
contract support services for three years. Their contract prices as stated in
the contracts are determined by management to be their respective fair values
of the consideration receivable by the Group. The Group measures the stage
of completion of provision of Fintech solutions by reference to the milestones
achieved by the Group and accepted by customers which management
consider they generally reflect the work progress of the transactions. The
Group recognises such revenue in accordance with the accounting policy
as stated in Note 4 (p) (i) and (jii). In application of this accounting policy,
significant judgements and estimates are required to be made by management
in determining whether contracts contain elements which should be separated
for revenue recognition purposes, whether the contracted prices of the individual
elements as stated in the contracts represent their respective fair values of
consideration receivable, whether the revenue should be recognised at a point
in time or over time and the stage of completion of transactions at the end of the
reporting period.

A change in an estimate or judgement made in the revenue recognition such
as determination of the stage of completion of a transaction at the end of the
reporting period could result in a significant change in the amount of revenue
recognised in one or more reporting periods.

Impairment losses for trade receivables

The Group estimates impairment losses for trade receivables resulting from the
inability of the customers to make the required payments. The Group bases
the estimates on the ageing of the trade receivables balance, customer credit-
worthiness, and historical write-off experience. If the financial condition of the
customers were to deteriorate, actual write-offs might be higher than expected
and could significantly affect the results of future periods.

32.

e BREMEE (E)

31 March2018 —Z—\F=A=+—H

Zstdst KAE (18)

SRR it BB RHR AR IR KBRS R IRRFSPhE
EHIRA
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32.ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(Continued)
Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties included in the Group’s financial statements require
measurement at fair value, as detailed in Note 15. The fair value measurement
of which utilises market observable inputs and data as far as possible. Inputs
used in determining fair value measurements are categorised into different levels
based on how observable the inputs used in the valuation technique utilised are
(the “fair value hierarchy’):

Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical items
(unadjusted);

Level 2: Observable direct or indirect inputs other than Level 1 inputs;
and
Level 3: Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived from market data)

The classification of an item into the above levels is based on the lowest level of
the inputs used that has a significant effect on the fair value measurement of the
investment properties.

The fair value of the investment properties was based on a valuation on these
properties conducted by an independent firm of professional valuer using
property valuation techniques which made use of those significant unobservable
inputs as mentioned in Note 15. A favourable or unfavourable change to these
inputs would result in changes in the fair value of the Group’s investment
properties and the corresponding amount of fair value gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fREMIBREM S (E)

31 March 2018 —Z—\#f=HA=+—H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

33.SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL

LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities
recognised at 31 March 2018 and 2017 may be categorised as follows:

& AT R R M R ()

31 March2018 —F—/\F=A=+—H

33. EMEENRERMEBENBIHSE

AEER-_Z—)\FR-Z—+tF=A=+—HB¥ERZ
SREERERABZEMEDRNT

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHEIT
Financial assets cREE
Loans and receivables REHERAGTTEZER
(including bank balances K e ARIE
and cash), at amortised cost (BERTEFLRS) 39,210 17,766
Financial liabilities SHaE
Financial liabilities, at amortised cost R AT EZEMARE 5,406 40,832

34.EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE

REPORTING PERIOD

On 18 May 2018, the subscriptions of a total of 20,000,000 ordinary shares
of the Company at a subscription price of HK$1 per share pursuant to
the subscription agreements dated 28 March 2018 entered into between
the Company and not less than six independent third party subscribers
were completed. The net proceeds from the subscriptions (after deducting
the expenses incurred in the subscriptions) amounted to approximately
HK$19,850,000. The gross proceeds from the subscriptions of HK$20,000,000
have been received as at 31 March 2018. The Company intends to apply the net
proceeds from the subscriptions for general working capital of the Group and for
other investment opportunities (if any).

35.APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue
by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2018.

34. IWEHARESEIR

RZE—NFRATNE ' REAQRRET DR NEE
VEZFRBAVAHA-Z—/\F=ZA=-1+/\AH
REWE - WER1BITHREERES $£20,000,000
BARRAREBROBESIEE TR - REFEMERIE
JFEE (K HNRR BRSSPI EE & 2 B2 ) 4943 19,850,000 74
TC ° #A 8 EIEFT 5 FE 458 20,000,000 TE R ZF
—NF=ZA=1+—HAKE - RARREREEBSHK
BFHERAEASE —REEES RAREMIEE®RS (40
Ao

35. RS MEIRE

EFZEN T \FAAZTN\BRETRETEEE
MBwE -
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Financial Summary
M E

The following is a summary of the consolidated results and assets and liabilities of the NTRASEABEREFEMRR I GAEEUREERE
Group, prepared for the last five years, as extracted from the audited consolidated BZHE  itkE ALl 2 KEBXGEMEHRE - AEW
financial statements of the Group. This summary does not form part of the audited IR ERE BTG RR Z AR ERD -

consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS e
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—-HLEFE
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
—E-N\F I —E—RF —ZET—RF —ZT—F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHT FHT FAIT FAT
Turnover WA 15,184 1,891 1,925 1,780 1,350
Profit/(loss) from operations KEER(B518) 21,166 (2,818) (3,431) 1,957 (5,589)
Finance costs RhE AR (968) (961) (909) (772) (1,247)
Profit/(loss) before taxation BREATEF S (ER) 20,198 (3,779) (4,340) 1,185 (6,836)
Taxation Fi1g (2,813) (790) (602) (540) (537)
Profit/(loss) for the year REZHRF(EE) 17,385 (4,569) (4,942) 645 (7,373)
Attributable to: LA AL -
Owners of the Company VN/NCIEZS DN 17,394 (4,559) (4,933) 655 (7,360)
Non-controlling interests FEfEAR () (10) ©) (10) (13)
17,385 (4,569) (4,942) 645 (7,373)
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Financial Summary (Continued)

B
BT E (48)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EENEE
At 31 March
R=A=+—8
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
—E-N\F S T —RF —T—RF —T—F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FAT FAT FAT FHET
Non-current assets IEMENAE 53,179 42,062 42,827 43,762 43,145
Current assets MEEE 40,642 17,887 14,995 21,041 15,870
Deduct: DA
Current liabilities nEaRE 23,766 2,734 3,238 3,682 3,972
Net current assets MRBEEFE 16,876 15,153 11,757 17,359 11,898
Total assets less current WEERTEERE
liabilities 70,055 57,215 54,584 61,121 55,043
Deduct: Pk
Non-current liabilities IEmEAE 7,181 40,757 31,381 31,275 36,407
Net assets BEFE 62,874 16,458 23,203 29,846 18,636
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Particulars of Properties
JES=AH

Type Lease term

Properties held for investment BIEREWE EEill HEH
Rooms 1101, 1102,1114 and 1115, B S EREESDITHE 1999 555 Commercial Medium

Car Parking Space Nos. 168,169,199 110158 ~ 110258 + 111458 2 111558 [GES A HR

and 200, No. 1999 Jingshajiang Road FOAERIEE 1685 « 16955 + 199 5% & 200 5%

and Rooms 701,702,703 and 704, R&TREEE 1989 5k B 55 701 5% -

Car Parking Space Nos. 129, 130,131 70257 ~ 70357 K 704 55 MHEAIEE 12955

and 132 No. 1989 Jingshajiang Road, 1305k + 13155 2 1325k »

Putuo District, Shanghai,

the PRC
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